
Annual Report 2015-2016

Department of Tourism, Major Events,  
Small Business and the Commonwealth Games



ii
Annual report 2015–2016 Department of Tourism, Major Events, Small Business and the Commonwealth Games

CS5749 09/16

ISSN 2201-2095

Public availability

A PDF version of this annual report is available online at  
www.dtesb.qld.gov.au.

Enquiries about this document are welcome via phone or mail:

Queensland callers only: 13 QGOV (13 74 68) 
Outside Queensland: (07) 3404 6999 
Post: PO Box 15168, Brisbane City East Qld 4002, Australia

Feedback

The Department of the Premier and Cabinet is coordinating feedback 
on agency annual reports at www.qld.gov.au/annualreportfeedback.

Interpreter statement

The Queensland Government is committed to providing accessible 
services to Queenslanders from all culturally and linguistically diverse 
backgrounds. If you have difficulty in understanding the annual report, 
you can contact us on either of the numbers above and we will arrange 
an interpreter to effectively communicate the report to you.

© State of Queensland (Department of Tourism, Major Events,  
Small Business and the Commonwealth Games), 2016.

The Queensland Government supports and encourages the 
dissemination and exchange of its information. The copyright in this 
publication is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 
Australia (CC BY) licence.

Under this licence you are free, without having to seek our permission, 
to use this publication in accordance with the licence terms.

You must keep intact the copyright notice and attribute the State of 
Queensland as the source of the publication.

For more information on this licence, visit http://creativecommons.
org/licenses/by/3.0/au/deed.en

The information contained herein is subject to change without notice. 
The Queensland Government shall not be liable for technical or other 
errors or omissions contained herein. The reader/user accepts all risks 
and responsibility for losses, damages, costs and other consequences 
resulting directly or indirectly from using this information.



Annual report 2015–2016Department of Tourism, Major Events, Small Business and the Commonwealth Games
1

Contents

Letter of compliance   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  3

At a glance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

Tourism industry  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  5

Small business sector and support . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

Director-General’s overview  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

Tourism and major events . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

Small business  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  7

Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  7

Looking ahead   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  8

Agency role and main functions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9

Our purpose . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9

Our vision  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  9

Our objectives for 2015–16   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  9

Our values . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9

Our department . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10

Tourism division . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10

Small Business division  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  10

Business Online Solutions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10

Office of Small Business . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11

Office of Commonwealth Games  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11

Our partners   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  11

Organisational chart  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14

Executive Management Group  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15

Our corporate partners . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16

Delivering benefits for all Queenslanders  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  17

Creating jobs and a diverse economy  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  17

Delivering quality frontline services  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  17

Protecting the environment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17

Building safe, caring and connected communities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17

Performance management framework . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18

Tourism and Events Development   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  18

Business to Government Services  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  18



2
Annual report 2015–2016 Department of Tourism, Major Events, Small Business and the Commonwealth Games

Financial summary  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  20

Statement of assurance 2015–16 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20

Operating result . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20

Income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20

Expenses   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  20

Administered funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21

Outlook for 2016–17  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21

Statement of comprehensive income   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  22

Statement of financial position  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23

Our performance  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  24

Tourism and Events Development   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  24

Business to Government Services  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29

Governance   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  34

Integrity   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  34

Governance committees   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  34

Business and Corporate Partnership Board . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36

Management accountability and risk management   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  36

Risk management . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38

Information management  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39

Workplace health and safety  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  40

Our people . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41

Workforce profile  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41

Our diversity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41

Our values . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41

Workforce planning and performance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42

Financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44

Appendix 1: Statutory bodies  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 72

Appendix 2: Boards and committees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 73

Appendix 3: Performance statement  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 74

Appendix 4: Legislation administered  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  76

Appendix 5: Compliance checklist  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 77

Abbreviations  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  79

Contacts and locations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80



Annual report 2015–2016Department of Tourism, Major Events, Small Business and the Commonwealth Games
3

Letter of compliance

23 September 2016

The Honourable Kate Jones MP 
Minister for Education and Minister for Tourism and Major Events 
Level 22 
30 Mary Street 
BRISBANE  QLD  4000

Dear Minister

I am pleased to submit for presentation to Parliament (by you on behalf of yourself, the Honourable Stirling Hinchliffe MP, 
Minister for Transport and the Commonwealth Games, and the Honourable Leeanne Enoch MP, Minister for Innovation, 
Science and the Digital Economy and Minister for Small Business) the Annual report 2015–2016 and financial statements for 
the Department of Tourism, Major Events, Small Business and the Commonwealth Games. 

I certify that this annual report complies with:

• the prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial and Performance Management 
Standard 2009

• the detailed requirements set out in the Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies.

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements can be found on page 77 of this annual report or accessed at  
www.dtesb.qld.gov.au.

Yours sincerely

Damien Walker 
Acting Director-General 
Department of Tourism, Major Events,  
Small Business and the Commonwealth Games 

http://www.dtesb.qld.gov.au
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At a glance 

Tourism industry

7.5%
of gross state product

1 in 11
jobs

1 in 8
businesses

$23 billion
contributed to the

Queensland economy

$53.8 million
a day in overnight 
visitor expenditure

220 000
Queenslanders

employed directly
and indirectly

14%
of Queensland’s

exports

52 200
businesses

Small business sector and support

> 97%
(406 000)

of Queensland businesses

Approx. 43%
of Queensland’s

private-sector employment

47*
new businesses 

established

1382
services delivered online

> 4.4 million
users of Business Queensland 

online (Business and 
Industry Portal)

148
mentoring panels

145*
existing businesses
further developed

> 1.23 million
Business Queensland online 

(Business and Industry Portal) 
page views per month

Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games 

$2 billion
boost to the Queensland economy

Up to 30 000
jobs

> 6400
workers that have played a role in

venues and village construction projects 

2500
full-time equivalent jobs

> 19 000
registrations from 3191 businesses

against Games work packages

18
world-class facilities: 3 new sporting venues, 
1 new multi-purpose venue, 7 upgraded and 
7 existing venues scheduled to be completed 

12 months ahead of the Games

5 ‘satisfied +’
progress reviews by the

Commonwealth Games Federation

* As a result of funding under the Queensland Entrepreneurs of Tomorrow Home-based Business  
   Grants Program
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Director-General’s overview

The Department of Tourism, Major Events, Small Business 
and the Commonwealth Games (DTESB) provides leadership 
in making Queensland an attractive destination for tourists, 
investment and events, supported by strong, capable and 
responsive small businesses.

Our vision is for Queensland to be Australia’s most attractive 
destination for tourists, businesses and events.

I am proud of the significant contributions this department 
has made to the Queensland Government’s objectives for 
the community in 2015–16.  

By working collaboratively across government, with 
our valued stakeholders and with statutory authorities 
(Tourism and Events Queensland and the Gold Coast 2018 
Commonwealth Games Corporation), the department 
has focused on delivering outcomes that align with the 
Queensland Government’s objectives to create jobs and a 
diverse economy, deliver quality frontline services, protect 
the environment and build safe, caring and connected 
communities. 

In the year to June 2016, Queensland tourism grew at 
record pace, with more international and domestic visitors 
travelling to the state than ever before. The year saw 
international visitor expenditure grow a further 10.6 per cent, 
with 2.5 million visitors generating $5.1 billion international 
visitor expenditure.

Securing new airline services has supplemented the boom 
in Asian tourism visitation. Our work in tourism attraction 
and investment has contributed to a $12 billion investment 
pipeline that will improve every aspect of the visitor 
experience—from the time they arrive to where they stay 
and what they do. 

In the Small Business portfolio, the launch of the Advancing 
Small Business Queensland strategy 2016–20 was a major 
achievement, as it will enable the department to help create 
the right environment for small business to start, grow and 
employ, and better coordinate and improve Queensland 
Government services through Business Queensland 0nline 
(Business and Industry Portal). This is a major opportunity 
for the department to assist the Queensland Government 
to provide services to small business and better shape 
and target funding programs to help them start, grow and 
employ.    

Delivery of the venues program for the Gold Coast 2018 
Commonwealth Games has surged ahead with two 
upgrades completed and one new venue finalised. All other 
new venues and upgrades remain on target to be delivered 
on time and on budget.

Tourism and major events
Queensland tourism is growing at an unprecedented rate, 
with $19.7 billion total overnight visitor expenditure in the 
year to June 2016. International visitor expenditure for 
the same period reached $5.1 billion for the first time, as 
Queensland welcomed 2.5 million tourists. 

The department has worked in partnership with Tourism 
and Events Queensland and industry to achieve this growth, 
which was largely assisted by the Attracting Aviation 
Investment Fund. The fund has been used to secure eight 
new or expanded airline services for Queensland during 
2015–16, including: 

• Hong Kong Airlines—Hong Kong to Gold Coast to Cairns 
(charter)

• Hong Kong Airlines—Hong Kong to Gold Coast to Cairns 
(scheduled) 

• Singapore Airlines—Singapore to Brisbane

• Qantas—Christchurch to Brisbane

• EVA Air—Taipei to Brisbane

• AirAsia X—Kuala Lumpur to Gold Coast

• China Eastern—Shanghai to Brisbane

• Jin Air—Seoul to Cairns.

The partnership between the Queensland Government and 
the tourism industry remained strong, and work on the 
Queensland tourism strategy progressed. Looking forward, 
the department will refine its focus to successfully attract 
Asian tourism opportunities to ensure Queensland is the 
market leader. 

The DestinationQ forum (held 8–9 October 2015 in 
Townsville) was a success, with delegates presented with 
new research and insights to support a robust discussion 
about how Queensland can convert visitor aspiration to 
visitation. The forum will be held again in 2016 on  
25 October in Mackay.
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We saw strong outcomes for tourism infrastructure with 
an investment pipeline of $12 billion, including hotels, 
attractions and projects such as the $3 billion Queen’s 
Wharf Brisbane development, a new $50 million aquarium  
in Cairns and the Fullshare Group’s $43 million renovation  
of the Sheraton Mirage Port Douglas. 

Small business
Queensland’s 406 000 small businesses employ 
approximately 43 per cent of the private sector workforce, 
and the department made significant advancements 
in improving Queensland Government support for this 
important part of the state’s economy and community. 

The department launched the Advancing Small Business 
Queensland strategy 2016–20, which will create the 
environment for small business to start, grow and employ. 
In the Queensland Budget 2016–17, the Queensland 
Government allocated an additional $22.7 million over three 
years to support delivery of the strategy, which aligns with 
the Advance Queensland jobs and innovation agenda. We 
will establish a new Office of Small Business, which will 
deliver new funding programs to help small business enter 
the digital economy, support small business entrepreneurs 
to thrive and be a knowledge and data hub to better target 
and shape government initiatives.

Business Queensland online (Business and Industry Portal) 
plays a significant role in supporting small business and 
is being improved to provide better access to government 
services and learning opportunities. It will support the  
Office of Small Business’ role as a knowledge and data  
hub. In 2015–16, Business Queensland online (Business  
and Industry Portal) provided 1382 services on behalf of  
13 Queensland Government agencies and experienced 
strong user growth—up 26 per cent to 4.4 million users.  
The site also helps small business work smarter and  
faster through SmartForms. Over the year there were  
85 000 online transactions facilitated, making it easier to do 
business. 

The 2016 Queensland Small Business Week ran from 
16–21 May, with approximately 5000 attendees at 104 
registered activities and events delivered by councils, 
chambers of commerce, individual businesses and the 
Queensland Government. Events focused on four key 
themes—collaboration and partnerships, innovation and 
entrepreneurship, identifying and seizing opportunities, and 
preparing for digital disruption. The department hosted Fit 
for Change workshops in four regional locations. Feedback 
from attendees was excellent, with 83 per cent of attendees 
rating the workshop topics as excellent or good. A digital-
first approach to communications resulted in a social media 
reach of more than 2 million people. 

The Mentoring for Growth program will be expanded under 
the new Advancing Small Business Queensland strategy 
2016–20, building on its success in 2015–16. Over the year, 
148 small businesses took part in a Mentoring for Growth 
panel and businesses that received mentoring reported a 
12 per cent increase in employment, a 7 per cent increase in 
turnover and an 18 per cent increase in gross profits.

The department delivered the Entrepreneurs of Tomorrow 
Home-based Business Grants Program. Under this program, 
up to $5000 was provided to help stay-at-home parents 
establish or grow a business. Results at 30 June 2016 show 
that 47 new businesses were established and 145 existing 
businesses further developed as a result of this funding.

The Red Tape Reduction Advisory Council was established 
to provide advice on red, green and blue tape areas of 
concern to small business. It is tasked with recommending 
areas and activities to streamline regulation. It will report  
its findings of a review of targeted industry sectors later  
in 2016.

The Queensland Small Business Advisory Council was 
re-established to provide advice, recommendations and 
practical solutions for identified small business concerns. 
The council contributed to the development of the 
Advancing Small Business Queensland strategy 2016–20 
and 2016 Queensland Small Business Week.

Gold Coast 2018 
Commonwealth Games
The department is well positioned to deliver on the 
Queensland Government’s commitment to stage the best 
Games ever and to ensure the event has lasting economic 
and social benefits for the state.

A key objective in 2015–16 was to achieve a level of 
satisfaction from the Commonwealth Games Federation 
(CGF) and we achieved this, with the CGF giving a positive 
report card to the event in May 2016 and declaring it on 
track to be Games-ready.

This confirmed the important work the department has done 
across portfolio framework management to ensure Games 
legacy outcomes through the GC 2018 Venue Program and 
Arts and Cultural Program, both before and after the event. 

The $320 million venue construction program, funded by 
the Queensland and Australian governments and the City of 
Gold Coast, is on time and on budget, with all competition 
venues on track to be delivered approximately 12 months 
ahead of the Games. This program includes construction of 
three new sporting venues, one new multi-purpose venue 
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and the upgrade of seven existing venues. Seven additional 
venues will be fitted with temporary event overlays. In  
total, the Games will be held in 18 new, upgraded and 
existing venues across the Gold Coast, Brisbane, Cairns  
and Townsville.

Sound Stage 9 was unveiled at Village Roadshow Studios—
the largest sound stage in the southern hemisphere. This 
will be the location for squash during the Games and will 
provide a lasting legacy for the film industry, with the facility 
already used for the filming of Thor: Ragnorok from July 
2016. The upgraded Broadbeach Bowls Club was unveiled, 
with the site transformed into a world-class venue that has 
already hosted the 2016 Australian Open. Upgrades were 
also completed at the Sports Super Centre at Runaway Bay, 
with a new international standard hockey pitch and official 
training venue for the Games.

Under the Embracing 2018 banner, we have worked 
with our partners to maximise the legacy benefits of the 
Games. Benefits are already being seen across a number 
of economic and social areas, including infrastructure 
development, education programs and procurement 
opportunities for Queensland businesses, and the 
development of a reconciliation action plan for the Games. 

As at 1 June 2016, $458 million in construction contracts 
(including Games venues and village) have been awarded 
and, of those, $209 million were awarded to Gold Coast 
contractors and $203 million to South East Queensland 
businesses.

More than 6400 men and women have so far played a role 
in the construction of the Games venues and village. The 
Games will support up to 30 000 full-time equivalent jobs, 
with 2500 full-time equivalent jobs during the design and 
construction phase of the venue construction program.

We communicated the legacy story through engaging  
digital platforms such as Ahead of the Games (a 
Commonwealth Games progress report) released in 
February, which provided the inside story on preparations. 
This online, multi-modal report is a single source of 
information on programs, progress and budget, and 
captures the excitement of the progress towards the Games. 
The Embracing 2018 social media channels also saw 
significant growth, with a 115 per cent increase in Facebook 
followers in the year 2015–16.

There were also major announcements—this will be the first 
ever Commonwealth Games to host beach volleyball and the 
largest integrated para-sport program in Games history. The 

Games mascot, Borobi, was also revealed, with an  
agreed percentage of the profits from the sale of selected 
Borobi merchandise to be donated to the Currumbin  
Wildlife Hospital.

Looking ahead
In 2016–17, we will continue to transform and expand 
Business Queensland online (Business and Industry 
Portal) to support a knowledge hub and provide a more 
sophisticated and interactive service for customers. As first 
advisor to government, we will also continue to provide 
oversight of delivery of the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth 
Games at a portfolio level. 

A number of new initiatives are planned for 2016–17. These 
include:

• growing Queensland’s share of the Asian tourism market 
through the Connecting with Asia Strategy

• leveraging the Advance Queensland and Jobs Queensland 
agendas to increase overnight visitors, increase overnight 
visitor expenditure and create jobs through Advancing 
tourism 2016–20: growing Queensland jobs

• implementing the Advancing Small Business Queensland 
strategy 2016–20

• appointing a Small Business Champion.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank our staff for 
their commitment and dedication, and give credit to the 
way they have worked with their colleagues, stakeholders 
and across government to deliver on departmental 
objectives. We have a lot to be proud of and I look forward 
to celebrating greater achievements in the future as we enter 
an exciting year. 

Megan Houghton 
Director-General
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Agency role and main functions

Our purpose
The purpose of DTESB is to provide leadership in making 
Queensland a highly attractive destination for tourists, 
investment and events, supported by strong, capable and 
responsive small businesses. 

Following Administrative Arrangements Order (No. 3) 2015 
made by the Governor in Council on 8 December 2015, 
principal ministerial responsibility for the following areas 
was assigned to three separate ministers:

• Minister for Education and Minister for Tourism and 
Major Events—responsible for major events and tourism 
investment attraction

• Minister for Transport and the Commonwealth Games—
responsible for the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth 
Games (GC2018)

• Minister for Innovation, Science and the Digital Economy 
and Minister for Small Business—responsible for 
developing small business capability, red tape reform and 
resilience.

Our vision
Queensland is Australia’s most attractive destination for 
tourists, businesses and events.

Our objectives for 2015–16
• Grow priority markets

• Deliver a successful Commonwealth Games

• Enable new products and experiences

• Competitive small businesses

• Easier to do business

• An agile, high-performing and engaged organisation

Our values
The department promotes Queensland public service 
values—customers first, ideas into action, unleash potential, 
be courageous and empower people.

Customers first Ideas into action Unleash potential Be courageous Empower people

Figure 1 Queensland public service values
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Our department

Our department is furthering the Advance Queensland 
agenda and creating opportunities for Queenslanders by 
growing tourism in the state, supporting small businesses 
and delivering GC2018.

Our department has a small, dynamic group of employees, 
and in 2015–16 the services were delivered by four divisions. 
Our service delivery is strengthened at the departmental 
and program level by strong partnerships with portfolio 
statutory bodies, industry and other government agencies.

Tourism division
The Tourism division works in partnership with industry, 
the Queensland Tourism Industry Council (QTIC), Tourism 
and Events Queensland (TEQ) and the Regional Tourism 
Organisation Network—promoting sustainable growth of 
the tourism industry by facilitating a strategic whole-of-
government approach to planning and investment in the 
state’s tourism assets and products, and the coordination  
of one-off major events.

The division works across government to:

• develop policy that will grow Queensland tourism and 
tourism jobs 

• attract and coordinate government support for the 
delivery of major events

• increase the ability of the tourism sector to be more 
competitive in global and domestic markets, in 
partnership with industry

• facilitate new investment into Queensland tourism 
infrastructure.

The Tourism division supports TEQ to attract new major 
events to the state and to showcase Queensland as an 
attractive destination for tourists and tourism investment  
in infrastructure, events and experiences.

The annual DestinationQ forum is organised by the  
Tourism division and is the flagship event in ongoing 
industry engagement.

Access and aviation are key enablers for the growth of the 
tourism sector in Queensland. The Tourism division works 
closely with TEQ and other government agencies (including 
national organisations) to ensure a whole-of-government 
approach is taken in the development of aviation access, 

cruise routes and other key transportation channels into 
Queensland through mechanisms such as the Attracting 
Aviation Investment Fund.

Small Business division
The Small Business division leads implementation of 
policy and strategy development for the small business 
sector through the Advancing Small Business Queensland 
strategy 2016–20. The division provides advocacy for 
small businesses in their dealings with the Queensland 
Government and coordinates the government’s engagement 
with small business and industry stakeholders through the 
Queensland Small Business Advisory Council (QSBAC). The 
division also coordinates whole-of-government input into 
national policies affecting Queensland small business.

In addition, the division coordinates and provides support 
to the Red Tape Reduction Advisory Council (RTRAC), 
which provides the Queensland Government with advice 
on red, green and blue tape areas of most concern to 
small business, and helps the state provide a business 
environment conducive to strong, profitable and globally 
competitive businesses.

The division helps small business owners develop skills and 
access networks so they can effectively start, manage and 
grow their businesses. It does this by delivering a range of 
programs and engagement initiatives, including Queensland 
Small Business Week, the Mentoring for Growth program 
and the Queensland Entrepreneurs of Tomorrow Home-
based Business Grants Program.

Business Online Solutions
Business Online Solutions manages Business  
Queensland online (Business and Industry Portal) at  
www.business.qld.gov.au. Business Queensland online 
(Business and Industry Portal) primarily targets business, 
industry and investment customers of Queensland 
Government services and is the state’s one-stop shop 
for business. Business Queensland online (Business and 
Industry Portal) delivers a wide range of services, including:

• general business, licensing and permit information 
aggregated from all three tiers of government (federal, 
state and local) to assist people starting and operating a 
business

http://www.business.qld.gov.au
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• government information and support, which customers 
can access through information guides, diagnostic tools 
and webinars and/or events

• an online applications gateway for business licences  
and permits

• customer support, such as options for customers to 
submit compliments and complaints, report issues and/
or seek further information.

Business Online Solutions delivers these seamless online 
services to Queensland business and industry by:

• targeting services to business, industry and potential 
investors

• engaging with local, state and federal agencies to  
deliver seamless and connected online services to 
business and industry

• championing the business and industry customer across 
government for online service delivery matters

• building and supporting other agencies’ capabilities in 
online service delivery (e.g. transforming paper-based 
forms to online SmartForms)

• developing online diagnostic tools to enable customer 
self-help

• providing editorial quality assurance of customer services

• gaining better understanding of customer needs, 
expectations and demands.

Office of Small Business
In 2016–17, the Small Business division and Business Online 
Solutions will be incorporated into the new Office of Small 
Business, following its opening on 26 July 2016 as part of 
implementing the Advancing Small Business Queensland 
strategy 2016–20.

Office of Commonwealth Games 
The Office of Commonwealth Games leads a coordinated 
approach to the Queensland Government’s delivery 
of GC2018. The office provides portfolio management 
and reporting for the Games. It leads the Queensland 
Government’s statewide program, Embracing 2018, to 
maximise the legacy benefits of hosting the Games and 
coordinates the development of the associated statewide 
GC2018 Arts and Cultural Program.

The office works with other Queensland Government 
agencies, the Australian Government and local authorities 
(including the City of Gold Coast) to deliver capital 
infrastructure, transport and security arrangements for 
GC2018. The office also coordinates cross-jurisdictional 
delivery and leveraging of investment in other major events.

Our partners 

Portfolio bodies

In addition to the department, there are two statutory 
bodies that make up the Tourism, Major Events, Small 
Business and the Commonwealth Games portfolio. 
We collaborate with these partners to ensure that all 
government and industry priorities are delivered:

• Tourism and Events Queensland (TEQ) aims to maximise 
the economic and social benefits of tourism for the 
state. It markets and promotes tourism in Queensland, 
helps develop tourism experiences and destinations, 
and secures major events for Queensland. TEQ 
complements the department’s efforts in building tourism 
infrastructure, attracting investment and developing 
industry capabilities.

• The Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games Corporation 
(GOLDOC) is primarily responsible for planning, 
organising and delivering the 11-day Games.

Industry

Tourism

DestinationQ is the partnership between government 
and industry to grow the tourism industry. It is formalised 
through an agreement between the state government 
and QTIC, and annual forums that bring together all key 
stakeholders to discuss industry issues.

Progress of the partnership agreement is overseen 
by the Industry Reference Group and the Tourism and 
Commonwealth Games Cabinet Committee (which is 
supported by the Tourism Inter-departmental Committee). 
These groups have driven progress of the partnership 
agreement and demonstrate what can be achieved when 
government and industry work together. 

This partnership underpins the delivery of agreed outcomes 
of the annual DestinationQ forums. The government 
delivered stability with a new industry–government 
partnership agreement, signed on 30 June 2015, refocusing 
efforts on job creation and the core principles of invest, 
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excel and grow. Progress against agreed priorities is 
evaluated in the annual state-of-the-industry report 
(available at www.destq.com.au). 

The 2015 DestinationQ forum was held in Townsville on 
8 and 9 October 2015. This was the fourth of the annual 
forums, which are a partnership between government 
and industry. The 2015 forum focused on the challenge of 
converting aspiration to visitation. The theme of the forum 
was ‘Invest.Excel.Grow.’.

The forum was attended by approximately 400 delegates 
and offered a range of industry-leading speakers, as well 
as masterclasses on innovative experiences, exceeding 
expectations, digital channels, the Asia market and tourism 
and transport. For full details of the 2015 DestinationQ 
forum, visit www.destq.com.au.

Feedback from QTIC and industry operators in 2015 
indicated that the forum was highly valued, particularly 
the involvement of ministers, and that the information and 
tools provided will help tourism businesses better position 
themselves to prosper and create jobs. Attendees reported 
that the 2015 DestinationQ forum was the most successful 
to date.

To ensure Queensland has a strong pipeline of new 
investment into tourism infrastructure, the department 
works closely with investors and Queensland project 
proponents, with support extending to:

• a coordinated tourism investment approach—assisting 
developers of tourism and ecotourism products to 
navigate their way through government and streamline 
the development process

• marketing and promotional tools—development and 
delivery of information to inform investors about 
Queensland as an investment destination

• investment facilitation—assisting investors to deliver 
tourism products for Queensland.

Small business

QSBAC engages and consults with small business on issues 
affecting the small business community. It creates greater 
opportunity for the government to hear first hand from 
small businesses and regional and industry representatives 
on issues affecting small business. QSBAC provides a 
direct line of communication between small business 
and government. It focuses on significant small business 
issues and provides advice and solutions on small business 
growth, sustainability and employment. The membership 

covers a cross-section of the small business community, 
with representation from a variety of industry sectors and 
Queensland communities.

The Queensland Government recognises the importance 
of streamlining regulation to make it easier to do business. 
To do this, RTRAC was established. RTRAC provides the 
Queensland Government with advice on red, green and blue 
tape areas of most concern to small business, and helps the 
state provide a business environment conducive to strong, 
profitable and globally competitive businesses.

Online business service delivery

DTESB, on behalf of the Queensland Government, is the 
Queensland representative for the Australian Government’s 
Business Online Services initiative. Two significant services 
delivered within this initiative are the Australian Business 
Account (ABA) and Australian Business Licence and 
Information Service (ABLIS). These services provide a suite 
of online amenities through a single entry point, so business 
customers can discover, apply and comply with business 
regulatory requirements across all three tiers of government.
In particular: 

• ABLIS provides a platform for businesses to save 
personalised information, check their regulatory 
obligations and subscribe to updates

• ABA enables businesses to manage their regulatory 
obligations in a single location and, if available, 
access, apply and pay online for various licences and 
registrations from all three levels of government.

Both ABLIS and ABA are developed, supported and 
maintained by the Australian Government, and managed 
through a multi-jurisdictional management committee. The 
Council of Australian Governments agreement outlines 
that jurisdictions will work together to deliver nationally 
coordinated online services to business. This includes 
ensuring that the necessary regulatory content from federal, 
state/territory and local government agencies is maintained 
within the system. 

http://www.destq.com.au
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Regional service delivery

Through a service delivery agreement, Regional Services 
in the Department of State Development provides a range 
of services on behalf of DTESB. This agreement provides 
an integrated approach to service delivery and establishes 
a commitment for supporting the development of tourism 
and small business. It enables DTESB to optimise service 
delivery and improve service reach.

Regional Services supports the delivery of DTESB policies 
and programs, and works with DTESB to meet the needs of 
clients across the state. This includes:

• providing a statewide network of regional offices that 
have the resources to support the growth of business  
and industries across Queensland

• providing regional intelligence and support on portfolio 
issues to the ministers, Director-General and executive 
management

• providing timely and quality input into briefing material, 
correspondence and reporting for the ministers, Director-
General and executive management

• proactively establishing and maintaining relationships 
with key regional stakeholders relevant to service delivery 
objectives

• supporting investment attraction in regional tourism 
development

• gathering information for and providing advice to small 
business and/or tourism operators during natural 
disasters. 

Corporate services

The Business and Corporate Partnership provides direct 
corporate services to support partnering agencies, 
including DTESB, to deliver on their government priorities. 
The partnership operates through three corporate hubs 
embedded in the Department of Agriculture and Fisheries 
(DAF), Department of Natural Resources and Mines, and 
the Department of Environment and Heritage Protection. 
Each hub delivers a set of core services (to the host and one 
adjunct agency) and a selection of cooperative services  
(to either five or six partnering agencies).

Under this model, the focus is on ensuring economies 
of scale, service integration, consistent service delivery, 
scalability, flexibility and responsiveness. DTESB receives 
the majority, but not all, of its corporate support through the 
corporate hub in DAF and niche corporate services through 
the remaining hubs. 
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Organisational chart
The department’s organisational chart as at 30 June 2016 is shown below.

Figure 2 DTESB organisational chart
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Executive Management Group 
The following people were members of the Executive 
Management Group (EMG) as at 30 June 2016.

Megan Houghton, Director-General

Megan Houghton was appointed Director-General in 
September 2015, bringing to the department a wealth of 
executive and commercial experience and insight that saw 
her recognised as the Telstra Business Woman of the Year 
in 2010. The department has benefited from her successful 
career as a senior executive in strategy and finance with 
Energex, United Energy and PricewaterhouseCoopers, as 
well as her time with CitySmart, where as CEO she steered 
the start-up through its critical formation phase to go on to 
deliver sustainable energy solutions for Brisbane worth over 
$25 million in five years.

Megan holds academic qualifications in commerce and 
economics, and has undertaken Harvard Executive 
training. She has a strong belief in the value of working 
collaboratively and in partnership with stakeholders and 
across government, and these skills have come to the fore 
in her roles as a board member of TEQ and GOLDOC. She 
brings to these roles the experience she has gained as a 
former Non-Executive Director for Urbis, Unitywater and 
Wide Bay Water.

Megan was also recognised as one of the Australian 
Financial Review 100 Women of Influence in 2011 and by 
the United States Government in their Visiting Leaders 
Program in 2010. Megan is the Director-General Government 
Champion for Kowanyama. 

Damien Walker, Deputy Director-
General, Tourism

The department has a role to provide leadership in 
making Queensland an attractive destination for tourists, 
investment and events. As Acting Deputy Director-General, 
Tourism, Damien Walker is responsible for delivering this 
leadership through the strategic management of policy, 
programs and strategies to help grow the industry and jobs. 

Before joining the department on secondment in February 
2016, Damien was a Deputy Director-General in the 
Department of Housing and Public Works. Previously he 
held a Deputy Director-General position in the former 
Department of State Development, Infrastructure and 
Planning, and has been Queensland’s Deputy Coordinator-
General.

Before leaving Adelaide to live in Queensland, Damien held 
senior executive roles in the South Australian Government in 
infrastructure planning and delivery, investment facilitation, 
contract management and reform implementation. Just 
prior to his move, Damien led the delivery of major health 
infrastructure, including the new $2 billion Royal Adelaide 
Hospital, the South Australian Health and Medical Research 
Institute and the Glenside Campus Redevelopment.

Damien holds academic qualifications in public policy and 
planning, and has broad experience, particularly in the 
economic development and strategic planning arena.

Cynthia Gillespie, Deputy Director-General, 
Office of Commonwealth Games

Cynthia Gillespie brings to the role of Deputy Director-
General, Office of Commonwealth Games, more than 
25 years’ experience in commercial and government 
sectors at both federal and state levels. She has strong 
analytical, program management, negotiation, strategic 
and management skills, as well as significant experience 
in the areas of finance, logistics, technology and corporate 
governance.

Cynthia has held executive positions in the Department of 
Transport and Main Roads and has extensive experience in 
large offshore logistic planning roles and medical logistics 
planning for a number of remote Aboriginal community 
aid programs. She also worked in Canberra as a Director 
at KPMG, where she helped government clients deliver 
strategic reform agendas and re-engineer existing service 
delivery programs.

Rebecca Andrews, Executive 
Director, Small Business

Rebecca Andrews leads the Small Business division of the 
department, which supports small business to help them 
start, grow and employ. She steered the development of the 
Advancing Small Business Queensland strategy 2016–20, 
which will support small business to help them grow and 
make it easier for them to interact with government. 

Her role demands a high understanding of the key 
stakeholders in business, industry and government, and 
how to ensure effective development and delivery of policy 
and programs to meet government priorities. Rebecca’s  
20 years of professional experience in both private and 
public organisations has helped her meet these demands.

She also has a background in economic development,  
a Bachelor of Management and experience as a business 
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owner, strengthening her knowledge and understanding 
of the challenges of the small business sector. She has 
previously worked in economic development and tourism  
in the Whitsundays, New Zealand and South Australia.

Mark Cushing, Executive Director, 
Business Online Solutions

As the Executive Director of Business Online Solutions, Mark 
Cushing is responsible for transforming government services 
to business customers by gaining in-depth understanding of 
their needs and personalising services.

Mark has a broad range of strategic leadership and 
experience delivering a range of priorities in complex 
organisations, including education, natural resource 
management, environmental protection, disaster 
management and infrastructure and planning. He has 
led whole-of-government reform, advanced adoption of 
new technologies, implemented organisational change, 
improved governance processes, built capability, managed 
performance and inspired individual and team commitment 
in the pursuit of results.

With post-graduate qualifications in Public Sector 
Leadership, a Bachelor of Technology and Associate Degree 
in Civil Engineering, and more than 22 years’ experience in 
the Queensland Government, Mark brings with him a wealth 
of experience, particularly around strategic leadership and 
experience delivering a range of government priorities 
across the sector.

Tony King, Executive Director, 
Office of the Director-General

Tony King is responsible for managing the Office of the 
Director-General. This includes ensuring effective and 
efficient corporate management and governance of the 
department, and coordinating effective departmental advice 
to, and support for, the Director-General and ministerial 
offices.

With more than 25 years of experience across public 
service and statutory authority roles, Tony brings a wealth 
of knowledge and a broad range of skills in strategic 
planning, public policy development, customer experience, 
governance and analytics. Prior to joining DTESB, Tony 
worked in customer service and experience.

Our corporate partners
Although they are not part of DTESB, representatives from 
our corporate partners participate in EMG meetings under 
the Business and Corporate Partnership agreement. 

Marcia Hoffmann, Deputy Director-General,  
Corporate

Marcia Hoffmann is Deputy Director-General, Corporate, 
for DTESB and DAF. She ensures that corporate services 
are delivered by the Business and Corporate Partnership 
efficiently and effectively to support DTESB in achieving 
departmental objectives.

Marcia has had a substantial career in public sector 
administration and executive management in federal, 
territory and state jurisdictions, and previously held the 
position of Chief Executive with the Northern Territory 
Department of Transport. She has specialised in leading 
large multidisciplinary teams, setting strategic direction, 
corporate governance, social and employment policy, major 
change and commercialisation initiatives, and transport and 
service delivery reform.

Leith Brown, Executive Director, 
Finance and Asset Management, 
and Chief Finance Officer

Leith Brown has held the role of Executive Director, Finance 
and Asset Management, and Chief Finance Officer for 
DTESB and DAF since 2012. Her extensive experience, 
gained from senior leadership roles in both the private and 
public sectors, includes financial management, corporate 
governance, organisational change management, project 
management, information systems development and 
implementation, strategic investment planning and activity-
based costing.

Leith holds a Bachelor of Business and an Executive 
Graduate Certificate in Business Administration, is a 
graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors 
and is a Fellow of CPA Australia.
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Delivering benefits for all Queenslanders

Departmental initiatives played a key role in delivering on a 
number of the government’s commitments.

 Figure 3 Queensland Government objectives for  
the community

Creating jobs and a diverse economy
• Progressed the Growth for Tourism Guarantee and 

the joint industry–government 20-year plan aimed 
at increasing annual overnight visitor expenditure, 
growing investment and aviation access, and supporting 
increased job creation.

• Continued the preparations for GC2018, which is 
expected to inject more than $2 billion into the state 
economy and create up to 30 000 jobs.

• Worked across government to reduce red tape and 
providing small business programs to support business 
profitability and global competitiveness. 

Delivering quality frontline services
• Continued to improve the functionality and services 

delivered by Business Queensland online (Business 
and Industry Portal)—the government’s one-stop shop 
service for business.

• Supported businesses to start, grow and be competitive 
through our tailored programs for small businesses.

• Developed the ongoing maturity of the new Customer 
Impact Index (CII) measurement system. The CII provides 
a more comprehensive assessment of customers’ 
awareness, experiences and satisfaction with the 
government’s business services and delivery system.

Protecting the environment
• Raised awareness of Queensland’s iconic natural assets, 

such as the Great Barrier Reef, through ecotourism and 
opportunities for investment.

Building safe, caring and 
connected communities
• Promoted diversity, community cohesion and pride, and 

engaged the community in healthy and active lifestyles 
through the annual Embrace our Games legacy action 
plan for GC2018.
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Performance management framework

Key strategies of the department are aligned to two services 
areas—Tourism and Events Development and Business to 
Government Services (see Table 1).

Tourism and Events Development
This service area promotes sustainable growth of the 
tourism industry by facilitating a strategic whole-of-
government approach to planning and investment in the 
state’s tourism assets and products, and the coordination of 
one-off major events. It works across government to:

• develop policy that creates an environment supporting 
economic growth in the tourism sector

• attract and coordinate government support for the 
delivery of major events

• secure tourism investment in Queensland 

• increase the ability of the tourism sector to be more 
competitive in global and domestic markets, in 
partnership with industry.

It works closely with TEQ and Trade and Investment 
Queensland to showcase Queensland as an attractive 
destination for tourists, events and experiences, and for 
investment in tourism infrastructure. This service area has  
a lead role in facilitating the development of sector 
capability and tourism product.

This service area leads and coordinates government service 
delivery for one-off major events. It is working closely 
with GOLDOC, the City of Gold Coast and the Australian 
Government to deliver GC2018. It partners with other 
major event organising committees and leverages other 
government services and programs across multiple tiers 
of government to maximise long-term economic and social 
benefits for Queensland.

Business to Government Services
This service area focuses on products and services that are 
delivered to business and industry customers (particularly 
small business) to enable them to grow and make it easier 
for small businesses to interact with government. 

The service area directly impacts on the people of 
Queensland by:

• enhancing the capacity of business to engage with 
markets, attract investors, navigate the business/
regulatory environment and access tools, resources  
and expertise to grow and succeed

• engaging other business-focused government agencies 
to facilitate the delivery of online services for small 
business via Business Queensland online (Business and 
Industry Portal) at www.business.qld.gov.au

• proactively employing strategies that reduce red tape and 
simplify compliance with government regulation.

From 2016–17, the name of this service area will change 
to Small Business Services to better reflect the services 
provided.

http://www.business.qld.gov.au
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Table 1  Departmental objectives, key performance indicators and strategic outcomes  
(extracted from the 2015–19 strategic plan)

Objective Key performance indicator Strategic outcome

To
ur

is
m

 a
nd

 
Ev

en
ts

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t Grow priority markets
Percentage of overnight visitor expenditure 
growth per annum

Growth in overnight visitor 
expenditure

Enable new products and 
experiences 

Amount of additional capital attracted into 
tourism investment 

Jobs for Queenslanders

Deliver a successful 
Commonwealth Games 

Level of Commonwealth Games Federation’s 
satisfaction with preparedness for the 
Commonwealth Games 

Plan, organise and deliver  
the best Games ever,  
providing lasting benefits 
across the state

Bu
si

ne
ss

 to
 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t 

Se
rv

ic
es

Competitive small businesses Percentage increase in business confidence Small business satisfaction 
with business-to-government 
services

Easier to do business
The value customers derive from using 
Business Queensland online (Business and 
Industry Portal)
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Financial summary

This financial summary provides an overview of DTESB’s 
financial performance for 2015–16. 

A more comprehensive view of DTESB’s financial 
performance for 2015–16 is provided in the financial 
statements included in this annual report.

Statement of assurance 2015–16
In accordance with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, 
the Chief Finance Officer has provided the Director-General 
with a statement that DTESB’s financial internal controls 
are operating efficiently, effectively and economically. 
DTESB actively manages its financial risks and liabilities. 
The department is financially well positioned to meet its 
objectives as outlined in the DTESB strategic plan 2015–19. 

Operating result
The operating result for 2015–16 is a break-even result, 
which is in line with expected budget outcomes.

Income 
For the 2015–16 financial year, DTESB was primarily funded 
by parliamentary appropriations (departmental services 
revenue) of $116.8 million (81 per cent), with the remaining 
funding coming largely from grants and other contributions 
received from the City of Gold Coast of $25.9 million  
(18 per cent) relating to GC2018.

Service revenue

Grants and other contributions

Other revenue

1%
18%

81%

Figure 4 Operating revenue, 1 July 2015 to  
30 June 2016

Expenses 
DTESB’s total expenses for the year were $145.4 million, 
including:

• $18.7 million (13 per cent) in employee costs

• $12.6 million (9 per cent) for supplies and services

• $113.9 million (78 per cent) in grants and subsidies 
payments (including $97.9 million in capital grants for  
the construction of GC2018 venues). 

Employee costs

Supplies and services

Grants and subsidies payments

13%

78%

9%

Figure 5 Operating expenses, 1 July 2015 to  
30 June 2016

DTESB’s services are grouped into two service areas: 

• Tourism and Events Development promotes sustainable 
growth of the tourism industry by facilitating a strategic, 
whole-of-government approach to planning and 
investment in the state's tourism assets and products, 
and the coordination of one-off major events.

• Business to Government Services focuses on products 
and services that are delivered to business and industry 
customers (particularly small business) to enable them to 
grow and make it easier for small businesses to interact 
with government.
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The graph below provides a breakdown of operating 
expenses into the two areas:

• Tourism and Events Development ($134.2 million or  
92 per cent)

• Business to Government Services ($11.2 million or  
8 per cent).

Tourism and Events Development

Business to Government Services

8%

92%

Figure 6  Operating expenses by service areas,  
1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016

Administered funds
Administered funds are those over which a department does 
not have control but is charged with administering the funds 
efficiently and effectively on a whole-of-government basis.

During 2015–16, DTESB received administered appropriation 
revenue totalling $167.4 million, and made grant payments 
of $71.5 million to GOLDOC and $95.9 million to TEQ. 

Outlook for 2016–17 

Operating budget 

Total expenses are estimated to be $231.8 million in 
2016–17. This represents an increase of $86.4 million when 
compared to actual 2015–16 expenses of $145.4 million. 
The increase is mainly due to additional expenses for the 
delivery of GC2018 venues and increased expenses for 
Advance Queensland: Connecting with Asia Strategy and the 
Advancing Small Business Queensland strategy 2016–20.

Capital expenditure 

The 2016–17 budget for capital expenditure is $95 million 
and includes:

• $11.7 million in capital purchases for the construction 
of GC2018 venues, including the Queensland State 
Velodrome and the Carrara Stadium upgrades

• $83.3 million in capital grant payments for the 
construction of GC2018 venues, including the Carrara 
Precinct (Carrara Indoor Stadium and Carrara Sports and 
Leisure Centre), Belmont Shooting Centre and Gold Coast 
Hockey Centre.
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Statement of comprehensive income
Table 2 Statement of comprehensive income for the year ending 30 June 2016

Controlled funds Actual (1) $’000 Budget (2) $’000 Variance (3)  $’000

Income from continuing operations

Appropriation revenue 116 751 175 684 (58 933)

User charges and fees 430 – 430 

Grants and other contributions 26 620 29 502 (2 882)

Other revenue 1 591 – 1 591 

Total income from continuing operations 145 392 205 186 (59 794)

Expenses from continuing operations

Employee expenses 18 689 14 992 3 697 

Supplies and services 12 636 41 527 (28 891)

Grants and subsidies 113 874 148 472 (34 598)

Depreciation 52 54 (2)

Other expenses 142 141 1 

Total expenses from continuing operations 145 392 205 186 (59 794)

Operating result from continuing operations – – – 

(1) 2015–16 actual as per financial statements

(2) 2015–16 budget as per 2015–16 Service Delivery Statements

(3) Explanations of variances are provided in the financial statements
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Statement of financial position
Table 3 Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2016

Controlled funds Actual (1) $’000 Budget (2) $’000 Variance (3) $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5 208 541 4 667 

Receivables 1 675 710 965 

Other current assets 12 321 1 138 11 183 

Total current assets 19 204 2 389 16 815 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 158 59 148 (58 990)

Total non-current assets 158 59 148 (58 990)

Total assets 19 362 61 537 (42 175)

Current liabilities

Payables 4 747 606 4 141 

Accrued employee benefits 797 390 407 

Other current liabilities 12 267 – 12 267 

Total current liabilities 17 811 996 16 815 

Total liabilities 17 811 996 16 815 

Net assets 1 551 60 541 (58 990)

Equity

Contributed equity 1 229 60 220 (58 990)

Retained surpluses (accumulated deficit) 321 321 – 

Reserves

Total equity 1 551 60 541 (58 990)

(1) 2015–16 actual as per financial statements

(2) 2015–16 budget as per Service Delivery Statements

(3) Explanations of variances are provided in the financial statements
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Our performance

The objectives in the DTESB strategic plan for 2015–19 provide the basis for evaluating our performance.

Tourism and Events Development
The performance highlights in tables 4, 5 and 6 report against the objectives delivered by the Tourism and Events 
Development service area. However, this is a sample of the work undertaken in 2015–16 and is not representative of  
all work undertaken during the period.

Table 4 Performance highlights—percentage of overnight visitor expenditure growth per annum

Performance indicator: Percentage of overnight visitor expenditure growth per annum

Objective: Grow priority markets

 Our performance progress is being delivered as planned

Growth in overnight visitor expenditure (%), year ended June

2010–11 2011–12 2012–13 2013–14 2014–15 2015–16

Domestic (–3.8) 16.7 3.1 (–2.1) (–0.7) 7.0

International (–5.7) 3.9 4.3 0.5 14.8 10.6

Total (–4.3) 13.7 3.3 (–1.5) 2.8 7.9

Progress in 2015–16

• Overnight visitor expenditure grew by 7.9% and reached $19.7 billion in the year June 2015 to June 2016. This included:

 – $14.6 billion from domestic visitors

 – $5.1 billion from international visitors. 

• Delivered the annual DestinationQ forum in Townsville in October 2015.

• The Attracting Aviation Investment Fund was used to secure the following new or expanded airline services:

 – Hong Kong Airlines—Hong Kong to Gold Coast to Cairns (charter)

 – Hong Kong Airlines—Hong Kong to Gold Coast to Cairns (scheduled)

 – Qantas—Christchurch to Brisbane

 – China Eastern—Shanghai to Cairns 

 – Singapore Airlines—Singapore to Brisbane

 – EVA Air—Taipei to Brisbane

 – AirAsia X—Kuala Lumpur to Gold Coast

 – Jin Air—Seoul to Cairns.

• The federally funded Tourism and Demand Driver Infrastructure program delivered practical assistance for a number 
of tourism initiatives across the state. These included new tourism infrastructure facilities, wi-fi at visitor information 
centres, tourism industry capability building and quality service workshops.

• The draft Queensland tourism and transport strategy is currently being developed in partnership with the Department of 
Transport and Main Roads to support the growth of the state’s tourism industry.

(continued)
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Plans for 2016–17

• Release and implement Advancing tourism 2016–20: growing Queensland jobs to increase visitors, increase overnight 
visitor expenditure and create jobs.

• Deliver a program of regional events culminating in a 2016 tourism forum.

• Focus efforts to capitalise on the opportunity of attracting rising Asian outbound tourism by driving digital connections 
and attracting more international air routes to Brisbane and regional Queensland through the Attracting Aviation 
Investment Fund and the new Connecting with Asia Program.

• Release and implement the Queensland tourism and transport strategy.

• Foster new tourism product development in Queensland through innovation in tourism events and Indigenous tourism 
showcases.

Table 5 Performance highlights—level of Commonwealth Games Federation satisfaction with  
preparedness for GC2018

Performance indicator:  Level of Commonwealth Games Federation satisfaction with  
preparedness for the Commonwealth Games

Objective: Deliver a successful Commonwealth Games

 Our performance progress is being delivered as planned

Review       Result

January 2013 ⎷  Satisfied

November 2014 ⎷  Satisfied

June 2015 ⎷  Satisfied

December 2015 ⎷  Satisfied

May 2016 ⎷  Satisfied

The assessment of satisfaction is made against an established comprehensive list of requirements compiled from the 
experience gained in previous Games and the host city bid and proposals. The assessment is made by the Coordination 
Commission (CoCom) of the Commonwealth Games Federation (CGF). CoCom is the CGF’s international oversight body.

Progress in 2015–16

• Strong endorsement of Games progress and preparations to date was issued by CoCom in their latest review in May 
2016. This followed another positive assessment in December 2015.

• The $320 million GC2018 Competition Venues program remains on budget and venues are scheduled to be completed at 
least 12 months ahead of the Games. The Parklands Development, which includes the Games village, remains on track to 
be completed six months ahead of the Games.

• Published two editions of the online progress report, Ahead of the Games, in July 2015 and February 2016.

• Planning is continuing with the event cities (Gold Coast, Brisbane, Townsville and Cairns) to ensure they are ready for the 
Games. This included finalising an in-principle agreement for the first two rounds of a grant program for public domain 
improvements valued at $9.5 million.

• Continued to strengthen governance to enhance the delivery of GC2018:

 – conducted an independent portfolio review for GC2018

 – developed and implemented enhanced governance frameworks for GC2018, including alignment of the GC2018 Risk 
Management Framework and Portfolio Management Framework with review outcomes.

(continued)



26
Annual report 2015–2016 Department of Tourism, Major Events, Small Business and the Commonwealth Games

• Worked with partners to establish and update the Legacy Framework and Strategy to leverage GC2018 to maximise 
lasting benefits for communities, and continued the review of baseline reporting data.

• Finalised a delivery model for Festival 2018—the GC2018 Arts and Culture program.

Plans for 2016–17

• Continue the GC2018 program of works, including the delivery of a reconciliation action plan.

• Implement the GC2018 Benefits program.

• Design and deliver planning for Festival 2018—the GC2018 Arts and Culture program.

• Continue to strengthen the portfolio assurance and reporting framework.

• Integration oversight of GC2018 activities, including implementation of the State Protocol Plan.

Table 6 Performance highlights—additional capital attracted into tourism investment

Performance indicator: Amount of additional capital attracted into tourism investment

Objective: Enable new products and experiences

 Our performance progress remains better than planned
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Figure 7     Amount of additional capital attracted into tourism infrastructure

In 2015–16, the target for investment attracted was doubled from $25 million to $50 million. The Tourism division achieved 
$100 million of additional capital attracted into tourism infrastructure, which was significantly above the 2015–16 target.

Progress in 2015–16

• Attracted $100 million in additional capital into tourism infrastructure development. Projects included:

 – construction of the new $50 million Cairns Aquarium in Tropical North Queensland

 – $50 million investment in the site for the Mary Lane project, which will include the development of a Westin Hotel.

• Delivered the fourth DestinationQ forum in Townsville, 8 and 9 October 2015.

• As part of the DestinationQ forum, released the 2015 State of the industry report to showcase industry performance 
statistics, the achievements of industry and government partners, and insights from tourism research by our tertiary sector.

• Queensland currently has a strong tourism infrastructure pipeline of approximately $12 billion. DTESB is committed to 
providing facilitation support and investment attraction services for tourism infrastructure projects across Queensland.

Plans for 2016–17

• Continue to deliver the Tourism Demand Driver Infrastructure program, including enhancements in tourism capability 
building, quality standards and new tourism facilities.

• Maintain a strong pipeline of tourism infrastructure projects and deliver facilitation assistance to project proponents to 
ensure the investment commitment is realised as new infrastructure for Queensland.
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Highlights

DestinationQ partnership

The DestinationQ partnership has proven to be a valuable 
strategic initiative. Headlined by an annual forum and 
guided by a long-term plan—Destination success: the  
20-year plan for Queensland tourism—this initiative 
provides a focus for change and innovation in the 
Queensland tourism industry.

At the 2015 DestinationQ forum, government came together 
with industry to debate the challenge of converting 
aspiration to visitation. Australia is the number one dream 
destination, but the 25th most visited destination according 
to TripAdvisor’s 2015 TripBarometer (which looked at 
the global travel economy). The 2015 forum focused on 
improving our understanding of the different touchpoints 
along the visitor journey to identify ways we can influence 
consumer travel choices so they ‘think Queensland’. The 
forum drew on new consumer insights and experienced 
speakers to challenge delegates to deliver on our promise  
to visitors.  

 

Figure 8 Delegates at the 2015 DestinationQ forum 

Australian Standing Committee on Tourism  

DTESB is represented on the Australian Standing Committee 
on Tourism and supports Queensland’s minister for this 
portfolio at national tourism ministers’ meetings.

We contribute to the implementation of Tourism 2020—
Australia’s national strategy—to enhance growth and 
competitiveness in the tourism industry. This includes 
committing to the following national ‘game-changing’  
reform priorities: 

• cross-portfolio commitment within all levels of 
government

• improved visa arrangements

• improved airport experiences and aviation capacity

• integration of national and state tourism plans into 
regional development and local government

• improved investment environment for tourism 
development.

Airlines and the Attracting Aviation Investment Fund 

The Attracting Aviation Investment Fund has been very 
successful in 2015–16, attracting eight new or expanded 
airline services to Queensland from key markets, including 
Hong Kong, China, Singapore, Taiwan, Kuala Lumpur, Korea 
and New Zealand.

Continuing to build aviation access and strategic 
partnerships will also be pursued through the government’s 
new Advance Queensland: Connecting with Asia Strategy, 
which will support an expanded focus on increasing 
Queensland’s share of the Asian tourism market and driving 
tourism growth in regional Queensland.

A key program of this new strategy, the Connecting with 
Asia Fund, aims to specifically drive tourism growth through 
securing more direct international aviation access, creating 
innovative ‘best of’ tourism products, building relationships 
with targeted Asian countries, improving digital connection, 
increasing awareness of Queensland experiences and 
encouraging regional dispersal. 

Investment attraction 

DTESB continues to work across government and industry  
to facilitate investment in tourism infrastructure across  
the state. 

The department is currently monitoring an investment 
pipeline of over $12 billion, either underway or committed, 
for the redevelopment of existing and new infrastructure 
across the state, including island resorts, hotels and 
attractions.

In 2015–16, the department provided investment assistance 
to project proponents that have realised in excess of  
$100 million in tourism infrastructure in Queensland 
including: 

• construction of the $50 million Cairns Aquarium in 
Tropical North Queensland

• $50 million investment in the site for the Mary Lane 
project including development of a Westin Hotel. 
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In addition to the investment outcome of $100 million, the 
department has worked with a number of other projects that 
have realised investment in 2015–16 and will deliver further 
investment in line with the development commitment and 
time frames for each project.

During the 2015–16 financial year, a number of significant 
tourism infrastructure projects have progressed or been 
completed, including: 

• the opening of the new Rydges RNA—a $50 million 
investment by Denwol Group Pty Ltd 

• the opening of the $100 million Ibis Brisbane on Elizabeth 
Street in March 

• new investment by the China Capital Investment Group to 
commence refurbishment of the Daydream Island Resort 
and Spa 

• commencement of construction on the $1 billion Jewel 
Project by Wanda Ridong.  

GC2018

GC2018 provides a unique opportunity to promote 
Queensland companies as suppliers for both GC2018 and 
for future major events in our state, and to maximise the 
exposure of Queensland and its attributes as a tourist 
destination. 

Achievements in 2015–16 included the following:

• Awarded 89 per cent of contracts and sponsorships for 
GC2018 to businesses that have a presence on the Gold 
Coast or in Queensland.

• Contracted Brisbane-based company, Circa 
Contemporary, as creative lead for the GC2018 Arts and 
Cultural Program following an open procurement process. 
Circa Contemporary has now developed the framework 
for the program.

• Launched the One Million Stars to End Violence project—
the first project partnership as part of the GC2018 Arts 
and Cultural Program.

• The upgraded Broadbeach Bowls Club was unveiled, 
following transformation of the site into a world-class 
venue.

• Opening of Sound Stage 9 at Village Roadshow’s 
Oxenford Studios, which will host the GC2018 squash 
competition and provide a long-term facility for the local 
film and television industry.

• Achieved agreement, as a first for the Commonwealth 
Games, for the inclusion of beach volleyball in the 
GC2018 sports program, which takes the program to  
18 sports.   

• Construction of the Commonwealth Games Village 
progressed on time and on budget throughout 2015–16 
and is scheduled to be handed over to GOLDOC for 
overlay works in October 2017. The project is providing 
1500 jobs. 

• Conducted the Embracing 2018 Industry Roundtable on 
2 September 2015, at which 15 key industry associations, 
GOLDOC and the City of Gold Coast discussed strategies 
to maximise outcomes for local businesses from GC2018 
procurement.

• Legislative protections put in place to protect the Games 
mascot, Borobi.

• Pre-Games training agreements were successfully made 
with Swimming Canada, Welsh Athletics and the Isle  
of Man.

• Continued to strengthen governance for GC2018 through 
the commissioning and conduct of an independent 
portfolio review and the implementation of enhanced 
governance frameworks for GC2018, including the 
alignment of the GC2018 Risk Management Framework 
and Portfolio Management Framework with the outcomes 
of the review.  

Figure 9  Work progressed in the 2015–16 financial 
year on the new $59 million Queensland 
State Velodrome at Chandler—the state’s  
first indoor velodrome will host GC2018  
track cycling events
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Business to Government Services 
The performance highlights in tables 7 and 8 report against the objectives that are delivered by Business to Government 
Services. However, this is a sample of the work undertaken in 2015–16 and is not representative of all work undertaken 
during the period. In 2016–17, Business to Government Services will be renamed as Small Business Services to better reflect 
the services provided.

Table 7 Performance highlights—percentage increase in business confidence

Performance indicator: Percentage increase in business confidence1

Objective: Competitive small business

 Our performance progress is being delivered as planned

According to the National Australia Bank Monthly Business Survey for June 20162, Queensland had the highest or equal-
highest business confidence of any mainland state for 11 out of 12 months to June 2016. In trend terms, Queensland 
business confidence rose to be +6 in June 2016, compared with the national average of +5. On a seasonally adjusted basis 
there was a significant increase in business confidence of 10 points, from +3 to +13.

Notes:
1   The Office of Small Business will work on a new measurement mechanism for this performance indicator in the future.
2   The June 2016 National Australia Bank Monthly Business Survey was conducted amidst uncertainty around the Brexit referendum and ahead of the 

Australian federal election.

Progress in 2015–16

• The Advancing Small Business Queensland strategy 2016–20 was launched in Mackay on 24 June 2016. The strategy 
positions Queensland as the place for small business to start, grow and employ, and puts in place programs to help 
small business grow, innovate and take advantage of digital technologies.

• During 2015–16, 148 businesses received mentoring by panels of volunteer business mentors under the Mentoring for 
Growth program. Businesses participating in the program are surveyed prior to mentoring and again 12 months after 
mentoring. In 2015–16, surveyed businesses reported, on average, increases of 12% in employment, 7% in turnover and 
18% in gross profits.

Mentors donated over 1800 hours to help colleagues focus on growth opportunities and commercial challenges. 

• The 2016 Queensland Small Business Week (16–21 May 2016) celebrated the contribution of small business to the 
Queensland economy, community and lifestyle, and attracted around 5000 participants to 104 different activities  
and events across the state. 

• The successful Queensland Entrepreneurs of Tomorrow Home-based Business Grants Program, to help stay-at-home 
parents establish and develop home-based businesses, attracted almost 1300 applications for funding.   

During 2015–16, 192 successful applicants representing a broad range of businesses received grant funding under  
stage 1. Key outcomes include:

(continued

ü	47 new businesses 
established

ü	145 existing businesses 
developed

ü	79% of funding provided 
to women

ü	30% of funding provided 
to regional businesses

ü	93% of applicants 
reported improved 
work–life balance now or 
expected in the future

ü	97% of applicants 
reported they expect their 
revenue to grow

ü	99% of applicants 
reported project success

ü	43% of applicants 
reported improvement in 
their business confidence
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Plans for 2016–17

• A new Office of Small Business will be established to support the delivery of the Advancing Small Business Queensland 
strategy 2016–20 over the next 12 months, developing and implementing a suite of targeted programs to help 
businesses start, grow and employ, including: 

 – the Small Business Digital Grants program to help small businesses enter the digital economy or build their digital 
capabilities

 – the Accelerate Small Business Grants program to engage high-level expertise for their business

 – expansion of the existing Queensland Entrepreneurs of Tomorrow Home-based Business Grants Program to include 
all types of new and home-based businesses and provide support for the development and growth of businesses 
owned by women and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people

 – a Queensland Small Business Champion to work with all levels of government to solve challenges and identify 
opportunities for small business. 

• Leverage the Advance Queensland agenda to help small business innovate and partner to create jobs and tap into the 
opportunities of the digital economy.

• Continue the QSBAC to provide direct input to government on issues facing the small business sector, and continue the 
work commenced by RTRAC to champion regulatory reform to make it easier for small business to do business.

• Provide small business with the opportunity to connect, collaborate, network and learn through the 2017 Queensland 
Small Business Week and departmental services. Through the establishment of the small business knowledge and data 
hub, targeted research across government will provide the Office of Small Business with an understanding of the issues 
impacting Queensland small businesses.

Figure 10    The Advancing Small Business Queensland 
strategy 2016–20 launched in Mackay  
on 24 June 2016

Figure 11    One of the 2016 Queensland Small Business 
Week activities

http://statements.qld.gov.au/Statement/2016/6/25/grants-help-small-business-launch-into-digital-economy
http://budget.qld.gov.au/budget-highlights/attracting-investment/
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Table 8 Performance highlights—value customers derive from using Business Queensland online (Business and 
Industry Portal)

Performance indicator:  The value customers derive from using Business Queensland online  
(Business and Industry Portal)

Objective: Easier to do business

 Our performance progress is being delivered as planned and shows improvement
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Figure 12      Unique users of Business Queensland online (Business and Industry Portal)

Progress in 2015–16

• More than 4.4 million customers (unique users) used Business Queensland online (Business and Industry Portal).  
The overall CII result was 65.6%. This result comprised:

 – awareness—9.8 out of 20

 – experience—32.2 out of 45

 – satisfaction—23.6 out of 35.

• During 2015–16, 1382 business services from across government were available through Business Queensland online 
(Business and Industry Portal).

• DTESB facilitated and presented 13 online business webinars to 572 participants.

• There was an increase of 28.11% in the number of unique visitors to Business Queensland online (Business and 
Industry Portal)—from almost 3.5 million in 2014–15 to over 4.4 million in 2015–16.

• There was an increase in the reach and quality of the Queensland Government’s online services delivered to 
Queensland business via Business Queensland online (Business and Industry Portal). An annual survey of Queensland 
businesses indicated that:

 – 7 in 10 businesses claimed to have saved time

 – 1 in 5 businesses claimed to have saved money

 – two-thirds of businesses claimed to have increased their industry knowledge.

• SmartForms, which enable customers to pre-fill their details from their ABA, are being used to enable state and local 
government to transform their paper-based business regulatory forms into online transactions. This makes it easier 
and faster for businesses to comply with government regulations and requirements. 

• Over 85 000 online transactions were delivered with SmartForms available on Business Queensland online  
(Business and Industry Portal). This was an increase of 110% when compared to online transactions in 2014–15.  
As at 30 June 2016, there were 169 active SmartForms.

(continued)
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Plans for 2016–17

• Deliver a more coordinated approach for businesses to access Queensland Government services and connect small 
business to opportunities through Business Queensland online (Business and Industry Portal) (under the Advancing 
Small Business Queensland strategy 2016–20).

• Enhance Business Queensland online (Business and Industry Portal) to ensure it continues to be customer focused and 
easy to use. Enhancements, including SmartForms, will make it easier to transact with government and comply with 
regulations. 

• Inform businesses about contemporary business practices by including information on Business Queensland online 
(Business and Industry Portal) about the modern forms of business planning and customer engagement, as well as  
the use of co-working spaces.

• Continue implementation of customer relationship management functionality to support delivery of more efficient 
services to small businesses by government.

Highlights

Advancing Small Business Queensland 
strategy 2016–20

A new strategic framework, the Advancing Small Business 
Queensland strategy 2016–20, was developed and 
released on 24 June 2016 to provide a coordinated plan for 
the effective delivery of the government’s small business 
program and service offerings from 2016–17 onwards.

The new strategy—which offers a suite of targeted programs 
focused on advocacy, enabling and empowering small 
businesses to start, grow and employ—replaces the 
Queensland small business strategy and action plan  
2013–2015. 

The new strategy will leverage the Advance Queensland 
agenda to create jobs, drive productivity and harness 
innovation, as well as complement and leverage programs 
offered by other agencies that are relevant to small 
business.

Implementation of the new strategy will be the responsibility 
of the Office of Small Business, which will be established 
in 2016–17, along with the Small Business Champion, 
to promote a coordinated approach to service delivery 
and informed decision-making and drive a collaborative 
approach to implementation across government.

Business Queensland online (Business and Industry Portal) 
is continuing to grow as the single destination for  
business-to-government services. At 30 June 2016, 1382 
online services were available through Business Queensland 
online (Business and Industry Portal). This includes 
business services from many different government agencies 
as part of the One-stop shop plan 2013–18.

Queensland Small Business Week

The 2016 Queensland Small Business Week celebrated the 
contribution of small business to the Queensland economy, 
community and lifestyle.

It is one of the most significant events on the small business 
calendar and showcases the commitment, efforts and 
passion of the largest group of employers in Queensland.

Four important themes for small businesses underpinned 
the week:

1. collaboration and partnerships

2. innovation and entrepreneurship

3. identifying and seizing opportunities

4. preparing for digital disruption.

Around 5000 people attended 104 registered events and 
activities across Queensland. 

Home-based business grants

The Queensland Entrepreneurs of Tomorrow Home-based 
Business Grants Program was announced as a new initiative 
in the 2015–16 budget.  

The program was designed to support stay-at-home parents 
who want to establish a new or develop an existing home-
based business, while maintaining a healthy balance 
between work and family. Applicants could use the grant 
funding for planning a new business and implementing  
the plan.

Almost 1300 applications were received for the current 
program from 24 August to 24 September 2015. After a 
merit-based assessment process, 192 successful applicants 
completed stage 1.  
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The program has been very successful in meeting its 
objectives. Of the applicants who have completed stage 1, 
nearly 97 per cent are expecting their revenue to increase 
over the next 12 months, and 93 per cent believe the 
program has already or will improve their work–life balance 
in the future.

Queensland Small Business Advisory Council (QSBAC)

DTESB provides the secretariat for this council, which was 
re-established in August 2015 to enable the government 
to hear first hand from small businesses and regional and 
industry representatives on the issues affecting small 
business.

The council is chaired by the Minister for Innovation, Science 
and the Digital Economy and Minister for Small Business, 
and includes 10 members representing the small business 
community in Queensland.

QSBAC provided important input to the development of the 

Advancing Small Business Queensland strategy 2016–20. 
The strategy includes ongoing support for the QSBAC as a 
measure to strengthen advocacy for small business.

More information on QSBAC can be found in Appendix 2.

Red Tape Reduction Advisory Council (RTRAC)

DTESB provides the secretariat for this council, which was 
established in August 2015 to provide the Queensland 
Government with advice on red, green and blue tape areas 
of most concern to small business, and assist the state 
to provide a business environment conducive to strong, 
profitable and globally competitive businesses.

The council is chaired by the Minister for Innovation, Science 
and the Digital Economy and Minister for Small Business, 
and includes seven members who represent the small 
business community in Queensland. 

RTRAC undertook a review of the regulatory environment of 
three priority industry sectors:

1. hospitality (cafes/restaurants)

2. agriculture (fruit growing)

3. manufacturing (light manufacturing). 

In the review, which will be tabled in Parliament, the council 
has made a number of recommendations for action by 
government to make it easier for business to do business. 

The Advancing Small Business Queensland strategy  
2016–20 commits to supporting the activities of the Red 

Tape Reduction Advisory Council as a measure designed to 
help make it easier for business to do business.

More information on this council can be found in  
Appendix 2.
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Governance

Effective governance ensures DTESB maintains high 
standards of performance, integrity and accountability as 
expressed in the department’s enabling objective for an 
agile, high-performing and engaged organisation. It also 
promotes our customers’ confidence in dealing with us.

Integrity
DTESB continued its commitment to maintaining a positive 
organisational culture that values and promotes ethical 
leadership and strong ethical decision-making. This ensures 
our obligations under the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 are 
met.

We support our new employees in learning about their 
new organisation and departmental culture through an 
online induction module, which includes information about 
their responsibilities under the Code of conduct for the 
Queensland public service. 

All employees are required to complete code of conduct 
and ethical decision-making training on a regular basis 
throughout their employment. Department policies, 
procedures and plans incorporate the principles and values 
contained in the code of conduct.

These mandatory courses ensure that all staff are aware of 
expected workplace behaviours and that their performance 
and behaviour complies with the code of conduct. Any 
breach of the code of conduct is treated seriously and 
the department ensures that breaches are managed in 
accordance with best practice.

Our prevention activities over the past 12 months focused 
on use of information; use of resources; identifying, 
declaring and managing conflicts of interests; receiving 
and giving gifts/benefits; and managers and supervisors 
obligations regarding the management of staff.

This year, 94 per cent of all employees completed the code 
of conduct training.

Governance committees 
DTESB’s governance committee structure in 2015–16 
included the Executive Management Group (EMG) and 
three supporting governance committees, which provide 
advice and assurance. Governance committees are essential 
to processes that foster the best use of organisational 
capabilities to achieve departmental goals and objectives. 
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Table 9 DTESB’s executive governance 

Office/committee Role and membership

Director-General
Overall responsibility under the Public Service Act 2008 (s. 98) for the management, 
governance and operation of the department

Advise the Director-General on strategic issues, investment decisions and significant 
organisational and operational matters 

Membership:

• Megan Houghton, Director-General (chair)

• Damien Walker, Acting Deputy Director-General, Tourism

• Cynthia Gillespie, Deputy Director-General, Office of Commonwealth Games

• Rebecca Andrews, Executive Director, Small Business

• Mark Cushing, Executive Director, Business Online Solutions

• Tony King, Executive Director, Office of the Director-General

• Marcia Hoffmann, Deputy Director-General, Corporate

• Leith Brown, Executive Director, Finance and Asset Management, and  
Chief Finance Officer

As DTESB is small, the EMG themes its management meetings and adds additional members with particular expertise to 
form specific committees that oversight the business of DTESB. Each committee is chaired by an EMG member, apart from 
the Audit and Risk Committee, which has an external chair. 

Table 10 DTESB’s supporting governance committees

Committee Membership 

Audit and Risk Committee

• Kaylene Gaffney, Group Financial Controller, Super Retail Group  
(external chair)

• Cynthia Gillespie, Deputy Director-General, Office of Commonwealth 
Games (internal member)

• Peter Dowling (AM), consultant (external member)

Information Steering Committee
• All EMG members, excluding the Director-General

• Tony Grant, Chief Information Officer

Work Health and Safety Steering Committee
• All EMG members

• Corporate and divisional health and safety representatives

Executive Management Group
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Business and Corporate 
Partnership Board
The Director-General (DTESB) and the Deputy Director-
General, Corporate (DAF), represent DTESB’s interests on  
the Business and Corporate Partnership Board,  
which comprises:

• the Directors-General of DTESB, DAF, Department of 
Natural Resources and Mines, Department of Energy and 
Water Supply, Department of Environment and Heritage 
Protection and Department of National Parks, Sport and 
Racing

• the head of corporate from each Business and Corporate 
Partnership hub.

The board provides leadership and sets the strategic 
direction of the partnership to enable it to meet its goals 
and objectives. It is collectively responsible for the long- 
term performance, business success and timely delivery  
of departmental key priorities within the partnership.

During 2015–16, the board engaged an independent 
consultant to conduct a health check of the Business 
and Corporate Partnership. The Business and Corporate 
Partnership was found to be in good health and providing a 
range of business benefits, including ensuring economies, 
efficiencies and resilience were achieved in the delivery of 
corporate services. 

The review also made a number of suggestions to build 
upon the partnership, including strengthening business 
planning and performance management. Some of these 
suggestions have been incorporated into the 2016–17  
work program for the partnership. 

Management accountability 
and risk management

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) was established 
in accordance with the Financial and Performance 
Management Standard 2009 (s. 35). During the year, the ARC 
observed the terms of its charter, having due regard to the 
Audit committee guidelines: improving accountability and 
performance issued by Queensland Treasury in June 2012.

The role of the ARC is to provide independent assurance and 
assistance to the Director-General on: 

• risk, control and compliance frameworks

• DTESB’s external accountability responsibilities as 
prescribed in the relevant legislation and standards

• DTESB’s integrity framework.

In discharging its responsibilities, the ARC has the authority 
to:

• conduct or authorise investigations into matters within its 
scope of responsibility

• access information, records and personnel of DTESB for 
such purpose

• request the attendance of any employee, including 
executive staff, at committee meetings

• conduct meetings with DTESB’s internal and external 
auditors as necessary

• seek advice from external parties as necessary.

The ARC acts as a forum for dialogue between the Director-
General, senior management, internal audit and the 
Queensland Audit Office (QAO).

The functions and role of the ARC do not diminish the 
statutory and regulatory duties and responsibilities of the 
Director-General, nor do they detract from management’s 
responsibilities in relation to corporate governance, internal 
control, fraud prevention and risk management.

Committee members were provided with recommendations 
arising from QAO reports to Parliament that relate to DTESB. 
During 2015–16, eight recommendations commenced action, 
with one of these recommendations having been closed.

Meetings 

The ARC convened four times during 2015–16. The 
Queensland Government Internal Audit Service (QGIAS) 
provided secretariat support to the ARC during 2015–16. 

Membership 

Between 1 July 2015 and 30 June 2016, the committee 
membership comprised those shown in Table 11 (all 
appointed by the Director-General).
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Table 11 ARC membership and attendance, 2015–16

Name Position Committee role Number of 
meetings 

Number of 
meetings 
attended

July 2015 meeting

Paul Martyn Acting Director-General Former ARC chair 1 1

Paul Martyn Deputy Director-General, Tourism Former ARC member 1 0

Bob Shead Executive Director, BDO Australia Ltd
Former external 
member

1 0

Marita Corbett Proxy for Bob Shead
Proxy for former 
external member

1 1

Philip Green Executive Director, Small Business Former ARC member 1 0

Rebecca Andrews Executive Director, Regional Services Former ARC member 1 1

Nicholas Elliott
Assistant Director-General, 
Commonwealth Games

Former ARC member 1 0

Craig Humphrey
Executive Director,  
Business Online Solutions

Former ARC member 1 1

December 2015, February 2016 and May 2016 meetings

Kaylene Gaffney
Group Financial Controller,  
Super Retail Group

External chair 3 3

Cynthia Gillespie
Deputy Director-General,  
Office of Commonwealth Games

Member 3 3

Peter Dowling Consultant External member 3 3

Remuneration 

As an external member of the committee, Kaylene Gaffney 
is entitled to be paid $1000 per meeting to a maximum of 
$5000 per calendar year (GST exclusive) and Peter Dowling 
is entitled to be paid $600 per meeting to a maximum of 
$3000 per calendar (GST exclusive) for their services to 
prepare for and attend up to five meetings per annum.

As proxy for the former external member of the committee 
until the composition change on 18 December 2015, Marita 
Corbett was entitled to be paid $600 per meeting to a 
maximum of $3000 per calendar year (GST exclusive). 

Performance and achievements

The ARC provided governance oversight and advice to the 
Director-General in relation to all aspects of its charter 
responsibilities.

Key achievements, and enablers to this, were:

• supporting the recommendation that the financial 
statements be signed off and the Chief Finance Officer 
Assurance Statement be endorsed.

• consideration of the

 – risk management framework and risk processes 
across the department

 – integrity oversight and misconduct prevention 
management reports

 – performance management and internal control update 
reports

 – SAP transition project update.
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During 2015–16, ARC reviewed the findings and 
recommendations of three internal audit reports.

Committee members were also provided with 
recommendations arising from QAO reports to Parliament 
that relate to the department. During 2015–16, two 
recommendations were actioned and closed.

Internal audit

QGIAS is a business unit within the Department of 
Environment and Heritage Protection and provides internal 
audit services to DTESB and four other Queensland 
Government agencies as part of a co-sourced corporate 
services arrangement under the Business and Corporate 
Partnership.

QGIAS provides independent assurance and advice to 
the Director-General, senior management and the ARC. 
It enhances DTESB’s corporate governance environment 
in line with roles and responsibilities detailed in the 
Financial Accountability Act 2009. It achieves this through 
an objective, systematic approach to evaluating the 
effectiveness and efficiency of corporate governance 
processes, internal controls, risk assessment and 
management practices.

Key audit activities for 2015–16 included: 

• providing reports to the Director-General and the ARC 
on completed audits outlined in the DTESB 2015–16 
Strategic Internal Audit Plan

• providing secretariat support to the ARC 

• monitoring and reporting on the status of implementation 
of internal audit and external audit recommendations to 
the ARC. 

QGIAS considers that there are controls in place to minimise 
the opportunity of fraud or mismanagement in those areas 
of the department that were audited during the year.

External scrutiny

The QAO undertakes financial and performance audits 
within the public sector. In 2015–16, two audit reports 
required action by DTESB.

The first of these was QAO report to Parliament, 2018 
Commonwealth Games: progress—report 9: 2014–15, 
conducted during 2014 while organisers were developing 
delivery plans and strategies. 

QAO examined the progress of preparations for hosting 
the Games in terms of governance, project planning, cost 
and delivering legacy benefits. It was concluded that, 
while preparations for the Games are progressing, overall 
planning, budgeting and governance was not at the level 
of maturity required to provide assurance across the entire 
program of work. 

All recommendations have been either implemented or are 
in the process of being implemented. 

The second was QAO report to Parliament, Cloud 
computing—report 13: 2015–16. The report examined how 
well departments are adopting the Queensland cloud 
computing strategy in modernising their information and 
communications technology (ICT) assets and services to 
deliver business value while managing risks. 

The department assessed the recommendations made by 
QAO for all departments and, during 2015–16, commenced 
work to improve cloud computing strategies.

Risk management
The main risk management focus for DTESB in 2015–16 
was to review its approach by focusing on alignment 
to departmental priorities and to undertake a series of 
specialised risk assessments. The department started to 
transform its risk management system—moving from an 
enterprise risk profile to a detailed strategic risk register. 

Highlights for 2015–16 included:

• completing a fraud, corruption and misconduct risk 
assessment, including a self-assessment of controls 
using a tool developed by the QAO—this will inform 
the update of the department’s Fraud, Corruption and 
Misconduct Control Plan and also target staff awareness 
campaigns

• commencing a legislation compliance assessment, 
including a comprehensive analysis of controls for 
compliance with corporate type legislation

• developing a portfolio risk register for delivering GC2018. 
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Information management

Information Steering Committee

The Information Steering Committee was established to: 

• ensure DTESB’s ICT investments and assets are aligned 
with departmental business priorities and plans, and 
support whole-of-government ICT directions

• provide whole-of-agency leadership, strategic direction 
and oversight in the planning and delivery of the portfolio 
of ICT-related initiatives in DTESB

• provide assurance to the Director-General that 
information management and ICT in DTESB are being 
appropriately governed to ensure return on investment 
through oversight of approved initiatives, and meet 
government priorities.

The committee established reporting requirements to 
ensure it receives information relevant to its role. The 
committee:

• reviews and monitors DTESB’s investments in information 
management systems and technologies to ensure they 
are managed through appropriate governance processes 
and to ensure stated outcomes and benefits are realised

• monitors the health of ICT assets to address areas of risk

• authorises and directs the development of strategic and 
operational plans for ICT-enabled business

• prioritises DTESB’s investments in information 
management systems and technologies consistent with 
DTESB’s strategic direction and government priorities

• scrutinises the delivery of approved and funded project 
and program allocations, and approves the reallocation 
of unused funds

• ensures accuracy of project and program data published 
to the DTESB’s ICT dashboard and Queensland 
Government data websites

• escalates significant risks to the Director-General

• monitors information management and ICT service 
provider arrangements (including performance) under the 
Business and Corporate Partnership

• develops DTESB’s information management capability.

Information systems

DTESB continues to operate, maintain and develop a range 
of information systems to support services, initiatives and 
corporate operations. 

Highlights include the following:

• Business Queensland online (Business and Industry 
Portal) provides a single location for Queensland 
Government online business services, including 
information, transactions and agreed national business 
online services. It also provides access to business 
development services and industry-specific services. 

• ABLIS—available through Business Queensland online 
(Business and Industry Portal)—enables customers to 
search for, and list, their regulatory obligations when 
starting or operating a business in Australia (across all 
three levels of government). Search results can be saved 
into a customer’s ABA, allowing them to manage and 
action their list.

• Online transactions developed through the SmartForms 
service allow core details held in the ABA to be prefilled 
into online application forms, saving businesses time and 
money in completing compliance obligations. A record of 
the form submission is also held in the customer’s ABA.

• Work commenced on revamping Business Queensland 
online (Business and Industry Portal) to improve the 
usability and functionality of the site through the 
Business Transformation program.

• The Customer Relationship Management System (CRM) 
provides DTESB with a common platform to record 
dealings with customers in real time and facilitate 
seamless delivery of services. It allows DTESB to have 
a comprehensive understanding of its customers, 
anticipate customer needs and use business intelligence 
to guide development of services and deployment of 
resources.

• During 2015–16, enhancement of the CRM’s functionality 
and usability continued, in particular, the integration of 
the CRM with the Australian Business Register.

Recordkeeping

DTESB has a recordkeeping strategy to ensure that it 
complies with the Public Records Act 2002, the Public 
Service Act 1996 and Information standard 40—
recordkeeping. Policies are in place for recordkeeping, email 
management, retention and disposal of records, managing 
information on shared network drives and information 
security.

The Recordkeeping Digital Transition Program supports and 
facilitates the move from a paper to digital recordkeeping 
paradigm—Born Digital, Stay Digital. A new digitisation 
disposal policy has been approved and is being 
implemented to support the new digital recordkeeping 
paradigm. 
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Records Management is responsible for providing a 
compliant recordkeeping framework for DTESB. Increasing 
numbers of records are being received, captured and 
managed electronically. Recordkeeping considerations are 
being formally addressed in both the development and 
decommissioning of business systems.

The State Archivist approved the small business and 
Commonwealth Games coordination retention and disposal 
schedules. Time-expired records have been identified for 
disposal and 11 boxes of hard-copy files have been securely 
disposed of.

Open data

In August 2014, DTESB released its Open data strategy: 
2014–2018, which outlines the proposed release of data 
into the community. In the short term, this strategy ensures 
that DTESB is open and accountable for data that it collects 
and stores. In the medium to long term, the release of data 
should spur creative re-use and repurposing of data to 
provide new and exciting resources for the community.

To support accountability and transparency across 
government, the following reporting requirements are  
now released online through the open data portal  
(www.data.qld.gov.au) instead of being included in the 
annual report:

• consultancies

• overseas travel.

In 2015–16, DTESB had no information to report for the 
Queensland language services policy.

The reporting requirement for government bodies  
is available on the department’s website at  
www.dtesb.qld.gov.au.

Workplace health and safety
We continue to build on our proactive health and safety 
culture through our strategic health, safety and wellbeing 
program. 

Key initiatives delivered during 2015–16 included:

• promoting the online health and safety management 
system and introductory video that provide the 
department with a structured framework for integrating 
health and safety into core business functions

• regular meetings of workplace health and safety 
network groups, which continue to show leadership and 
commitment to ensuring a proactive health and safety 
culture

• online incident reporting, attention to prevention reviews, 
a comprehensive incident database and quarterly 
performance reports to benchmark performance and 
ensure best practice and continual improvement

• annual workplace health and safety inspections to 
maintain a sound risk management environment

• resource kits to provide direction and tools to support 
staff

• delivery of health checks, with results used to inform 
priority risk areas and evidence-based campaigns

• an annual health and safety week to promote the values 
of a positive health and safety culture—including a video 
highlighting integration of health and safety into everyday 
operations, and leadership awards recognising excellence 
and innovation

• a pilot flu vaccination program, which utilised local 
community pharmacies to promote local economies

• maintaining ‘Silver Recognition’ in the Queensland 
Government’s Healthier, Happier Workplaces initiative—
the department is in the process of progressing to ‘Gold 
Recognition’

• a domestic and family violence program to promote a 
respectful workplace culture and provide support to 
those whose lives are affected by domestic and family 
violence.

The department’s workplace health and safety program 
has led to positive trends and financial outcomes in the 
department’s WorkCover premium. For the year 2015–16, 
DTESB recorded 100 per cent stay at work for reported 
claims compared to the industry average of 45.53 per cent, 
and zero average paid days compared to the industry 
average of 26.64 days. 



Annual report 2015–2016Department of Tourism, Major Events, Small Business and the Commonwealth Games
41

Our people

Workforce profile
The Queensland public sector quarterly workforce profile: 
June 2016, based on Minimum Obligatory Human Resources 
Information data, shows that DTESB had 156.71 full-time 
equivalent staff at 30 June 2016. The permanent separation 
rate was 2.88 per cent. 

The financial statements show that the number of paid 
full-time equivalent employees as at 30 June 2016 is 
170—including both full-time employees and part-time 
employees measured on a full-time basis as provided to the 
Public Service Commission and utilised in the preparation 
of the Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information. 
Employees who have been seconded to DTESB from 
other state government departments are reflected in the 
Minimum Obligatory Human Resources Information data 
of their substantive department. However, for purposes of 
transparency, these same employees are reflected in the 
financial statements for DTESB. 

Our diversity

Male

Female

33.33%

66.67%

Figure 13 DTESB gender profile

Equal employment opportunity profile

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples

People with a disability

People from a non–English speaking background

3.03%

0%

1.21%

0.0% 0.5% 1.0% 1.5% 2.0% 2.5% 3.0% 3.5%

Figure 14 DTESB equal employment opportunity profile

Our values
We continue to ensure that we integrate the Queensland 
public service sector-wide values. These values have been 
widely recognised and accepted as sincere expressions 
of the values necessary to make DTESB an effective and 
satisfying place to work. 

The substantial 97 per cent staff response rate to the Public 
Service Commission–led 2016 Working for Queensland 
Employee Opinion Survey—an increase of 12 per cent 
since last year, and 58 per cent higher than the whole of 
Queensland public sector average—has highlighted a great 
result. Later in 2016, all staff will have the opportunity to 
see the results, learn where we can improve and continue 
the good work currently being done by managers who are 
leading their work groups effectively across DTESB and 
committed to delivering outcomes.

DTESB will also continue to implement strategies and 
programs stemming from the 2014 and 2015 surveys, 
including, but not limited to, further training and 
development opportunities such as confident people 
management, Cerno 360 assessments, practical resilience 
workshops and expanded availability of Lynda.com courses.
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Workforce planning and performance
During 2015–16, we continued to implement initiatives that 
involve aligning workforce skills and resources with current 
and future core business priorities.

A focus during 2015–16 was on the Commonwealth Games, 
which will place Queensland on the world stage in April 
2018. The Office of Commonwealth Games in DTESB 
is responsible for whole-of-government coordination, 
investment assurance, the GC2018 Arts and Cultural 
Program and the Embracing 2018 legacy program.

The Office of Commonwealth Games, with the assistance 
of the whole-of-government Leadership Board, has agreed 
to make up to 120 government staff available on long-term 
secondment as part of their contribution to Games planning. 
These will be in addition to the significant and valued 
direct contributions of Queensland Health, the Department 
of Transport and Main Roads, Queensland Police and 
Queensland Fire and Emergency Services. 
 
This is a unique opportunity to address workforce planning 
across the sector and enhance staff skills and experience, 
working in a fast-paced and often high-pressure service 
delivery environment.

DTESB is committed to building on our workforce to 
better reflect the diversity of Queensland’s community by 
embracing activities that promote an inclusive workplace 
culture.

We continued to build a culture that values and embraces 
health and safety, leadership, high performance, 
accountability and innovation.

Building departmental culture

DTESB has a Culture Club—a team comprised of empowered 
colleagues from all classification levels who drive positive 
change to enhance the workplace—which aims to:

• support all staff

• help staff feel empowered

• bring people together

• enable collaboration.

The club does this by:

• delivering events that bring staff together to celebrate 
and/or collaborate

• driving reward and recognition for staff through programs 
such as the Australia Day Achievement Awards

• building a sense of community by enabling staff to do 
things together, such as get fit, have fun, help others and 
raise awareness.

The club continues to ensure that employees integrate 
the Queensland public service values with our own. These 
values have been widely recognised and accepted as 
sincere expressions of the values necessary to make DTESB 
a high-performing and satisfying place to work.

DTESB’s positive culture is evident in our high participation 
rate (97 per cent) in the 2016 Working for Queensland 
Employee Opinion Survey. 

Flexible working arrangements 

As technology changes the way we work, we will continue 
to profile policies that promote work–life balance and 
adaptable working arrangements, such as flexible working 
hours, job-sharing, part-time work and telecommuting. We 
also have provisions for family and cultural leave, and care 
facilities in the workplace.

These policies are promoted to job candidates and 
employees, and are available online.

Employment performance 
management framework

DTESB’s performance management framework helps 
supervisors and employees make informed decisions about 
their business unit priorities, individual goals, behaviour 
expectations (aligned to DTESB’s culture and values) and 
development needs.

Our strategic plan, business plans and individual 
performance agreements are all aligned to the government’s 
key objectives, providing a clear line of sight and 
expectations of performance.

The online induction program is an effective approach 
to introducing staff to DTESB, specifically conditions 
of employment, ethical behaviour, safety at work and 
information security. Personal workplace inductions 
conducted by managers complement the online program, 
while workplace inductions incorporate understanding of 
business goals and expectations, local procedures and 
policies, and integration into the work team.

Performance excellence is recognised at both the business 
unit level and departmental level through events such as the 
Achiever Awards ceremony. 
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Industrial and employee 
relations framework

DTESB’s Consultative Committee facilitates consultation 
between management and unions on industrial issues, 
workforce strategy and organisational change, and the 
implementation and monitoring of relevant provisions of the 
Core Agreement. The first meeting of the committee was 
held in February 2016.

Over the last 18 months, DTESB has participated in the 
modernising of Queensland’s industrial awards that apply 
to state and local government employees. This process 
has been led by the Queensland Industrial Relations 
Commission.

Leadership and management 
development framework 

DTESB continues to build the management and leadership 
skills of current and future leaders. During 2015–16, 
executives and senior officers developed leadership 
capabilities through: 

• participation in Public Service Commission management 
development programs

• implementation of a comprehensive performance 
agreement

• participation in the 360 Degree Executive Feedback 
Program to further develop leadership priorities

• participation in the Executive Capability Assessment 
and Development initiative led by the Public Service 
Commission.

In 2015–16, DTESB delivered a number of blended learning 
and development initiatives for all staff. These initiatives 
focused on building management and leadership skills, and 
included:

• Managing People—a program to provide supervisors and 
managers with practical skills to build and motivate their 
teams

• Change Management—a program to provide supervisors 
and staff with the tools to understand and manage 
change, both as a team and individually

• Resilience Training—a program to provide managers and 
staff with practical skills to handle adversity and future 
challenges in both their personal and professional lives. 

Planning is underway to develop leadership and capacity 
of our senior leadership teams by putting in place a high-
performance teams program. This is to be rolled out for 
DTESB senior leaders during 2016–17. 

Early retirement, redundancy 
and retrenchment

No redundancy, early retirement or retrenchment packages 
were paid during the period.
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2016

Income from operations
Appropriation revenue Appropriation revenue 2
User charges and feesUser charges and fees ##
Grants and other contributionsGrants and other contributions 3

Other revenue 4
Total income from operations 

                          
Expenses from operations

Employee expenses Employee expenses 5
Supplies and services Supplies and services 6
Grants and subsidies Grants and subsidies 7
Depreciation and amortisationDepreciation and amortisation ##
Other expenses Other expenses 8

Total expenses from operations

Operating result for the year

Total comprehensive income

2016

10,932              

Notes

55,488              

-                         

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.

-                         

-                         -                        

26,620                
430                     

30,236              

-                        

113,874              

160                   
55,488              

116,751              

14,106              

7                       
22,189              

-                        

1,591                  

54                     

2015
$'000

145,392              

145,392              

18,689                
12,636                

$'000

33,011              
281                   

Operating Result from Operations

52                       
142                     
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Statement of comprehensive income by major departmental services
for the year ended 30 June 2016

 
 

Income from operations (1)

Appropriation revenue
User charges and fees
Grants and other contributions
Other revenue

Total income from operations 

Expenses from operations (1)

Employee expenses
Supplies and services
Grants and subsidies
Depreciation and amortisation
Other expenses

Total expenses from operations

Allocation of income and expenses to corporate services (disclosure only):
Income
Expenses

• 
  
  • 
  
  

• 
• 
• 

Major Departmental Services

As a “recipient” agency, DTESB receives defined services from the following agencies:

Department of Agriculture and Fisheries (DAF): Finance; Human Resources; Corporate Communications; Governance Oversight; Planning and
Performance Management; Information Management; Fleet Management; Telecommunications.

Corporate Services income and expenses attributable solely to DTESB are apportioned across the major departmental services while corporate services
income and expenses attributable under the corporate partnership arrangements are outlined in the Statement of Comprehensive Income by Major
Departmental Services of the respective department.

4,887                  
4,549                5,015                  

(1) Corporate services income and expenses relating to DTESB through the Business and Corporate Partnership arrangements have been allocated to
respective departmental services.

Department of Natural Resources and Mines (DNRM): Accommodation Services; Legal Services; Customer Solution Services.
Department of Environment and Heritage Protection (DEHP): Privacy and Ethics; Internal Audit; Procurement; Right to Information.

3,767              4,553          

Business to Government Services:

This service area ensures that businesses can seamlessly interact with government and are better equipped to manage and grow their business.
This service area focuses on products and services that are delivered to business and industry customers (particularly small business) and to other
Government agencies or jurisdictions.  

This service area directly impacts on the people of Queensland by:

enhancing the capacity of business to engage with the market, attract investors, navigate the business/regulatory environment, and access tools,
resources and expertise

43                       

9,543                 145,392              

782                    

The purpose of the major departmental services undertaken by the department during the year are as follows:

116                 

Tourism and Events Development promotes sustainable growth of the tourism industry by facilitating a strategic whole of Government approach to planning
and investment in the state’s tourism assets and products, and the coordination of one off major events.

This service area works across Government to strategically improve planning and approval of new tourism industry projects and major events. It showcases
Queensland as an investment destination and the opportunities for investment in the State’s tourism infrastructure and product development through
initiatives such as the tourism investment model and the Attracting Aviation Investment Fund.

This service area leads and coordinates government service delivery for one-off major events. It is working closely with the Gold Coast 2018
Commonwealth Games Corporation, the City of Gold Coast and the Federal Government to deliver the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games. The
service area enters into partnership arrangements for other major event organising committees and leverages other government services and programs
across multiple tiers of government to maximise long term economic and social benefits to the State.

3,709              

Business and Corporate Partnership (BCP) arrangements:

(116)                   

770                    

The “host” agency of each corporate service function receives the appropriation of funds and reports Full Time Equivalent positions in the respective
agency. The model is multi-layered for different corporate services functions. That is, some functions are provided to 2 agencies, and some are provided to
6 agencies with any combination in between.

463                     

 Tourism and Events 
Development  Total 

33                      

 Business to Government 
Services 

22,189              

2016

10,768                
281                   

2015

7                       

52                       

11,171        14,106              

113,378      

23,902            

In addition to the corporate services delivered within DTESB, the department also participates in a corporate partnership arrangement whereby certain
agencies “host” a number of strategic and operational corporate services provided to DTESB as a “recipient” department. This arrangement was developed
with a focus on ensuring economies of scale, service integration, scalability and responsiveness.

430                     
9,109                 116,751              

55,488              

-                  

1,591                  
46                       

2015
$'000

(43)              

46,061            

engaging other business-focused government agencies to facilitate the delivery of an online one-stop-shop for business to government services via the
Business and Industry Portal.

Tourism and Events Development:

-                        

14                      

270                    
26,620                

9,479          
7,518                  

$'000

41               40                   

20152016

7,821              

$'000$'000

22,149            

18,689                

105,983      
430                     

113,874              

10                   

3,157                  
6,385                 

-                         30,236            

40                      

20                       

11,244                9,427                 

54                     

145,392              

7,721              

33,011              

$'000
2016

4,479                

45,944            

449                     

160                   

- 7                        

142                     
55,488              

26,574        

30,236              

-                         

4,438          

Operating result for the year

12,636                3,111                 

134,191      

10,932              

11,202                
122             

495                     

127                 
11                       

-                      
134,148      

1,591          

$'000
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2016

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalentsCash and cash equivalents 9

Receivables 10
Other current assets Other current assets 11

Total current assets

Non-current assets
Plant and equipment Plant and equipment 12

Total non-current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities
Payables 13

Accrued employee benefitsAccrued employee benefits 14
Other current liabilitiesOther current liabilities 15

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

Equity
Contributed equity
Accumulated surplus/deficit

Total equity

The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 

1,551                  

496                   

3,706                

3,210                

19,204                

158                     
158                     

797                     
12,267                -                        

5,208                  

1,229                  

1,551                  

17,811                

1,642                

19,362                

4,747                  

321                     

3,706                

321                   
1,963                

1,963                

-                        
1,675                  

12,321                

17,811                

614                   

20152016

2,845                

5,669                

614                   

5,055                

Notes

2,210                

$'000 $'000
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Statement of assets and liabilities by major departmental services 
as at 30 June 2016

Current Assets (1)

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Other current assets

Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets (1)

Plant and equipment
Total Non Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities (1)

Payables
Accrued employee benefits
Other current liabilities

Total Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

(1) Corporate Services assets and liabilities have been allocated to respective service areas.

2,008                  

5,669                

-                        

2015

553                 

$'000

 Tourism and Events 
Development 

2016

3,387          

$'000

797                     
4,747                  

9                         

2,292                 
1,675                  

614                   

2,544                 

41                      573                 

2,210                

-                      
470                    

220                    
3,210                

158                     

12,267                -                         

41                      

470                    

3,706                

2015

-                      

490             

2,511              
12,312        

-                        

251                    

2,584                 

276                 
(765)                    

17,957        

2,960              
496                   

19,362                

3,236              

3,236              
13,032        

17,811                (146)                    

312                     

19,204                

3,706                

 Business to Government 
Services 

16                       614                   573                 

4,435          

142             

(146)                    

2016

178                     1,958              1,497          

$'000

1,821                  

308                     

16                       

$'000

17,338        

17,957        

-                         12,321                

158                     

5,208                  

3,084              

2,845                

$'000

17,196        

2,023                  

17,811                

$'000

252                    

5,055                

2015

142             

 Total 

2016
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2016
  

Balance as at 1 July 2014

Transactions with owners as owners:
- Appropriated equity injections (note 2)
-

Balance as at 30 June 2015

Balance as at 1 July 2015

Transactions with owners as owners:
- Appropriated equity injections (Note 2)

-

Balance as at 30 June 2016

(1) This relates to the transfer of venues capital works in progress for the GC2018 to Stadiums Queensland (SQ).

Total comprehensive income for  the year

Net asset transfers in/(out) from other 
Queensland Government entities (1)

Net transactions with owners as owners
1,229                                           

(37,738)                                        

Total comprehensive income for the year

-                                              

37,325                                         

-                                              
-                                              

321                                          

Operating result from operations

-                                              
(37,738)                                      

(413)                                           (413)                                             

Operating result from operations

-                                              

-                                                   

15,086                                         

-                                              

1,551                                         

37,325                                       

(260)                                           
1,642                                           

Total

-                                              

-                                             

15,086                                       

(260)                                             

321                                          

1,642                                           1,963                                         

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.

-                                              -                                                   

-                                                   

Net transactions with owners as owners

1,902                                           
-                                             -                                              

-                                                 
-                                                 

2,223                                         

 Contributed
Equity 
$'000

 Accumulated
Surplus/Deficit 

 $'000 

(15,346)                                      (15,346)                                        

-                                              

321                                          1,963                                         

$'000

-                                                   

-                                                   

321                                          

Net asset transfers in/(out) from other 
Queensland Government entities (1)
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2016

Notes 
Cash flows from operating activities

Inflows:
Service appropriation receipts
User charges and fees
Grants and other contributions
GST input tax credits from Australian Taxation Office
GST collected from customers
Other inflows

Outflows:
Employee expenses
Supplies and services
Grants and subsidies
GST remitted to Australian Taxation Office
GST paid to suppliers
Other outflows

Cash flows from investing activities                                                                                                            
Outflows:
Payments for plant and equipment
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Inflows:
Equity injections
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year

Reconciliation of Operating Result to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Operating surplus / (deficit)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense

Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in appropriation revenue receivable
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables
(Increase)/decrease in LSL reimbursement receivables
(Increase)/decrease in annual leave reimbursement receivables

(Increase)/decrease in current other assets(Increase)/decrease in current other assets (1)

(Increase)/decrease in non-current assets
Increase/(decrease) in payables

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilitiesIncrease/(decrease) in other liabilities (2)

(Increase)/decrease in GST input tax credits receivable
Net cash provided from operating activities

(1) This increase relates to prepayments detailed in Note 11.
(2) This increase relates to the payable to Queensland Treasury (QT) detailed in Note 15.

1,974                

52                       

Increase/(decrease) in accrued employee benefits

9

37,383                

12,267                

16                     

2,502                

(42)                     12                     

-                         

37                       

8,940                

(12,321)              

(6,096)               

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

(15,096)             
(15,096)             

9,137                

1,899                  

129,684              

8                       

(2,540)               

$'000

(113,296)            
(2,153)                

35,915              

$'000

(30,236)             

605                     
26,620                

2016

(23,585)              

(37,746)              

2,726                  

201                   

37,383                14,899              

2,904                

2,845                

1,536                  
302                     

2,845                  

5,208                  

(159)                  

(37,746)              

54                     

-                        

413                     

22,189              

14,899              

(2,082)               

1,594                  

4,041                
2,240                

2,726                  

(6,409)               

(2,893)                

(14,030)             

(144)                   

2,363                  

(18,390)              

2,785                  

2015

666                     
178                     (77)                    

-                        
93                     

9,137                

-                        

(362)                   1,659                
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Basis of Financial Statement Preparation for the year ended 30 June 2016

   Accounting estimates and judgements

   Other Presentation Matters

   Issuance of financial statementsAuthorisation of financial statements for issue

New accounting standards early adopted and/or applied for the first time in these financial statements are outlined in Note 1g.

DTESB has prepared these financial statements in compliance with section 42 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009. These 
financial statements comply with Queensland Treasury's (QT's) Minimum Reporting Requirements for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2015.

 Statement of compliance

The reporting entity

Current/Non-Current Classification - Assets and liabilities are classified as either 'current' or 'non-current' in the Statement of Financial Position and
associated notes. Assets are classified as 'current' where their carrying amount is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date.
Liabilities are classified as 'current' when they are due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date, or the department does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement to beyond 12 months after the reporting date. All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current.

The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Director-General and Chief Finance Officer at the date of signing the Management Certificate.

DTESB did not control other entities in the 2015-16 financial year.

The financial statements include the value of all income, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity of DTESB.

DTESB is a not-for-profit entity and these general purpose financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis (except for the Statement of Cash Flow
which is prepared on a cash basis) in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations applicable to not-for-profit entities.

The preparation of financial statements necessarily requires the determination and use of certain critical accounting estimates, assumptions and
management judgements that have the potential to cause material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year. Such estimates, judgements and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised and in future periods as relevant. 

Currency and Rounding - Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars and have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 or, where
that amount is $500 or less, to zero, unless disclosure of the full amount is specifically required.

Comparatives - Comparative information reflects the audited 2014-15 financial statements except where a restatement was necessary to be consistent
with disclosures in the current reporting period.
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note Note Title

Objectives and principal activities of the department
Summary of significant accounting policies

Grants and other contributions
Other revenue
Employee expenses
Supplies and services
Grants and subsidies
Other expenses
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Other current assets
Plant and equipment
Payables
Accrued employee benefits
Other current liabilities
Commitments for expenditure
Contingencies
Financial instruments
Key management personnel and remuneration expenses
Events occurring after balance date
Budget vs actual comparison
Schedule of administered items
Reconciliation of payments from consolidated fund to administered income
Administered Activities  Budget vs actual comparison

22

14

18

23

1
2

16

3

Reconciliation of payments from consolidated fund to equity adjustment recognised in 
contributed equity

9

21

19
20

6

2

Reconciliation of payments from consolidated fund to appropriation revenue 
recognised in statement of comprehensive income

12
11

13

8

5

7

15

24

4

17

10
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

Objectives and principal activities of the department

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Summary of significant accounting policies

(a)   Allocation of revenues and expenses from ordinary activities to corporate services

(b)   Insurance

(c)    Leases

(d)  Services received free of charge or for nominal value

• 
• 
• 

(e) Taxation

A distinction is made in the financial statements between finance leases that effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee substantially all risks and
benefits incidental to ownership, and operating leases, under which the lessor retains substantially all risks and benefits. 

1.

•  Protecting the environment by:

Incentives received on entering into operating leases are recognised as liabilities. Lease payments are allocated between rental expense and
reduction of the liability.

•   Delivering quality frontline services by:

DTESB has the primary responsibility within the Queensland Government for initiatives to strengthen and grow tourism within the State in partnership
with the industry, and for facilitating all government activity related to the development of tourism. The department is also responsible for initiatives to
strengthen the State’s small business sector, including facilitating the Queensland Small Business Advisory Council, the Red Tape Reduction
Advisory Council and Small Business Week.

•    Creating jobs and a diverse economy by:

deliver a successful Commonwealth Games

progressing the Growth for Tourism Guarantee and the joint industry-government twenty year plan aimed at increasing annual overnight visitor
expenditure, growing investment and aviation access and supporting increased job creation
continuing the preparations for the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games which is expected to inject more than $2 billion into the state
economy and create up to 30,000 jobs 

continuing to improve the functionality and services delivered by the Business and Industry Portal - the government's one-stop shop service for
business
developing the ongoing maturity of the new Customer Impact Index (CII) measurement system. The CII provides a more comprehensive
assessment of customers’ awareness, experiences and satisfaction with the government's business services and delivery system.

The department discloses revenues and expenses attributable to corporate services in the Statement of Comprehensive Income by Major 
Departmental Services. The income and expenses of the department's corporate services are allocated to the department's services on the basis of 
percentage of state funding.

promoting diversity, community cohesion and pride, and engaging the community in healthy and active lifestyles through the annual Embracing
2018 Action Plan for the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games.

grow tourism priority markets

The department envisages Queensland as Australia's most attractive destination for tourists, investment and events, supported by strong, capable and 
responsive small business. The strategic objectives supporting this vision are to:

working across government to reduce the red, green and blue tape areas of most concern to small business to support business profitability and
global competitiveness

Contributions of services are recognised only if the services would have been purchased if they had not been donated and their fair value can be
measured reliably. Where this is the case, an equal amount is recognised as revenue and an expense. 

DNRM (Accommodation Services; Legal Services; Customer Solution Services)
DEHP (Privacy and Ethics; Internal Audit; Procurement; Right to Information)
DAF (Finance; Human Resources; Corporate Communications; Governance Oversight; Planning and Performance Management; Information
Management; Fleet Management; Telecommunications)

The revenue and expense related to these contributions of services have not been recognised in the financial statements as these values are
considered to be immaterial and cannot be measured reliably.

Ultimate responsibility for coordination of preparations across all levels of government and the private sector for the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth
Games, the largest sporting event this decade in Australia, also rests with the department.

Operating lease payments are representative of the pattern of benefits derived from the leased assets and are expensed in the periods in which they
are incurred.

The department is a State body as defined under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and is exempt from Commonwealth taxation with the
exception of Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and Goods and Services Tax (GST). FBT and GST are the only taxes accounted for by the department. GST
credits receivable from, and GST payable to the ATO are recognised (refer Note 10).

The department does not have any finance leases.

create an agile, high performing and engaged organisation

foster competitive small businesses
make it easier to do business

Key initiatives of the department contribute to the Queensland Government’s objectives for the community through:

enable new products and experiences

DTESB received defined services from the following agencies: 

raising awareness of Queensland’s iconic natural assets such as the Great Barrier Reef through eco-tourism strategy and opportunities for
investment.

•  Building safe, caring and connected communities by:

The department’s non-current physical assets and other risks are insured through the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF), premiums 
being paid on a risk assessment basis. In addition, the department pays premiums to WorkCover Queensland in respect of its obligations for 
employee compensation. 
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

(f)   User charges and fees

(g)   First year application of new accounting standards, early adoption of accounting standards or change in accounting policy

(h)  Future impact of accounting standards not yet effective

AASB 2015-2 

AASB 2015-7

The department already discloses detailed information about remuneration of its KMP, based on Queensland Treasury’s Financial Reporting
Requirements for Queensland Government Agencies . Due to the additional guidance about the KMP definition in the revised AASB 124, the
department will disclose its responsible Minister(s) as part of its KMP from 2016-17. The department does not provide remuneration to Ministers, so
figures for Ministerial remuneration will not be disclosed by the department. Comparative information will continue to be disclosed in respect of KMP
remuneration.

• AASB 124 Related Party Disclosure requires a range of disclosures about the remuneration of key management personnel, transactions with related
parties/entities, and relationships between parent and controlled entities on or after 1 July 2016. The department already discloses information about
the remuneration expenses for key management personnel (KMP) (refer to Note 19) in compliance with requirements from QT. Therefore, the most
significant implications of AASB 124 for the department's financial statements will be the disclosures to be made about transactions with related
parties, including transactions with key management personnel or close members of their families. 

The department did not voluntarily change any of its accounting policies during 2015-16. 

The department is not permitted to early adopt a new or amended accounting standard ahead of the specified commencement date unless approval is
obtained from QT. Consequently, the department has not applied any AAS's and Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective. The
department applies standards and interpretations in accordance with their respective commencement dates.

• AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. This standard
contains much more detailed requirements for the accounting for certain types of revenue from customers. Depending on the specific contractual
terms, the new requirements may potentially result in a change to the timing of revenue from sales of the department's goods and services, such that
some revenue may need to be deferred to a later reporting period to the extent that the department has received cash but has not met its associated
obligations (such amounts would be reported as a liability (unearned revenue) in the meantime). The department does not expect a significant impact
on its present accounting practices.

• AASB 9 Financial Instruments will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The main impacts of these
standards on the department are that they will change the requirements for the classification, measurement and disclosures associated with the
department's financial assets. Under the new requirements, financial assets will be more simply classified according to whether they are measured at
amortised cost or fair value. However, as the classification of financial assets at the date of initial application of AASB 9 will depend on the facts and
circumstances existing at that date, the department's conclusions will not be confirmed until closer to that time. At this stage, and assuming no change
in the types of transactions DTESB enters into, all of the department's financial assets are expected to be required to be measured at fair value
(instead of the measurement classifications presently used in Note 18). In the case of the department's current receivables, as they are short-term in
nature, the carrying amount is expected to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.

This standard amends AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and provides relief to not-for-profit public sector entities from certain disclosures about 
property, plant and equipment that is primarily held for its current service potential rather than to generate future net cash inflows. The relief applies to 
assets under AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment which are measured at fair value and categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy 
(refer to Note 12). As a result, the following disclosures are no longer required for those assets.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, AASB 101, AASB 134 
& AASB 1049]

Two Australian Accounting Standard (AAS) have been early adopted for the 2015-16 year as required by QT. These are:

The amendments arising from this standard seek to improve financial reporting by providing flexibility as to the ordering of notes, the identification and 
location of significant accounting policies and the presentation of sub-totals, and provides clarity on aggregating line items. It also emphasises only 
including material disclosures in the notes. The department has applied this flexibility in preparing the 2015-16 financial statements, including 
co-locating significant accounting policies with the related breakdowns of financial statement figures in the notes.

1.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 13]

No new Australian Accounting Standards effective for the first time in 2015-16 had any material impact on this financial report.

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the potential impacts of new or amended AAS's with future commencement dates has not yet been
determined and are as set out below. 

All other AAS's and interpretations with future commencement dates are either not applicable to the department's activities, or have no material impact
on the department.

User charges and fees controlled by the department are recognised as revenues when the revenue has been earned and can be measured reliably 
with a sufficient degree of certainty. This involves either invoicing for related goods/services and/or the recognition of accrued revenue. User charges 
and fees are controlled by the department where they can be deployed for the achievement of departmental objectives.

At this stage, the department is not expecting any significant impact from the adoption of the AASB 9 as the department has minimal trade receivables 
outside of other government departments nor does the department have any "held to maturity investment".

Another potential impact of AASB 9 relates to calculating impairment losses for the department's receivables. Assuming no substantial change in the
nature of the department's receivables, the impairment losses will be determined according to the amount of lifetime expected credit losses. On initial
adoption of AASB 9, the department will need to determine the expected credit losses for its receivables by comparing the credit risk at that time to the
credit risk that existed when those receivables were initially recognised.
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

Budgeted appropriation revenue
Lapsed appropriation revenue

Budgeted equity adjustment appropriation
Lapsed equity adjustment
Equity adjustment receipts (payments)
Less: Opening balance of equity adjustment receivable
Plus: Closing balance of equity adjustment receivable

Equity adjustment recognised in Contributed Equity

Grants and other contributions
Contributions from Gold Coast City CouncilContributions from City of Gold Coast (CGC) for the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games (GC2018)

Contributions from Queensland Government agencies
Goods & services received below fair valueGoods & services received below fair value (1)

Sponsorships - Grant Sponsorships
Total 

Other revenue
Recoveries of prior year expenditureRecoveries of prior year expenditure (1)

Sundry revenue Sundry revenue
Total 

Employee expenses

Employee benefits
Salaries and wages Salaries and wages
Termination benefits Termination benefits
Employer superannuation contributionsEmployer superannuation contributions 
Annual leave levy Annual leave levy 
Long service leave levyLong service leave levy 
Other employee benefitsOther employee benefits

Employee related expenses
Workers compensation premiumWorkers compensation premium
Other employee related expOther employee related expenses

Total 

Less: closing balance of deferred appropriation refundable to consolidated fund payable

(1) This largely relates to staff provided by the Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC) to work within the Office of the Commonwealth Games (OCG).

Accounting Policy - Grants and other contributions

29                     

1,591                  

14,707                

1,089                

Grants, contributions, donations and gifts that are non-reciprocal in nature are recognised as revenue in the year in which the department obtains control 
over them (control is generally obtained at the time of receipt). Where grants are received that are reciprocal in nature, revenue is recognised over the 
term of the funding arrangements.

Contributed assets are recognised at their fair value.

1                       

37,325                

108                   

372                     

14,106              

60                     

1,853                  

25,903                

$'000

129                     

Appropriations provided under the Appropriation Act 2015 are recognised as revenue when received or when appropriation revenue receivable is 
recognised after approval from QT.

22,014              

(1,306)                

181                     

Accounting Policy - Appropriation Revenue

2016

37,383                

115                   

45                       

Accounting Policy - Contributed Equity

31                     

$'000

-                        

26,620                

Total Appropriation Receipts (cash) 35,915              
(50,926)             

-                        

7                       

11,270              

129,684              

1,413                  

(11,627)              

1,588                  
3                         

1,306                

7                       

175,684              

15,086              

Plus: Closing balance of appropriation revenue receivable

The accounting treatment for contributions of services is explained in Note 1(d).

-                         

294                     

(6,036)                

(46,000)              

18                       

3.

2015

4.

5.

18,689                

Non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities between wholly-owned Queensland State Public Sector entities, as a result of machinery-of-Government 
changes, are adjusted to Contributed Equity in accordance with Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities. Appropriations for equity adjustments are similarly designated.

14,899              

2.

187                   

145                     
239                   

76                       

(825)                  

116,751              

15,724              

33,011              

(4,210)               

Appropriation Revenue recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income

Reconciliation of payments from consolidated fund to appropriation revenue 
recognised in statement of comprehensive income

Reconciliation of payments from consolidated fund to equity adjustment 
recognised in contributed equity

1,235                

104                   

-                        

(1) Recoveries of prior year expenditure relate to return of surplus funds for 2015 AFC Asian Cup ($1.307 million) and the Gold Coast Theme Park Capital
of Australia campaign ($267,000).

(187)                   

300                     

86,841              

22,189              

43,419                

Less: Opening balance of appropriation revenue receivable
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

Employee expenses (cont'd)

Number of Employees:

Supplies and services

Consultants and contractors (1)

Operating lease rentals
Property building expenses
Transport
Travel and hospitality
Computer/information technology
Telecommunications
Shared services provider fee
Materials
Portable and attractive items
Service delivery costs and service level agreement charges
Bank fees and charges

Licence fees & permitsLicence fees & permits (2)

Other 
Total 
(1) Increases in 2015-16 largely relate to the business transformation agenda related to the Business and Industry Portal (BIP).
(2) This expenditure is the annual marketing rights contribution to the Australian Commonwealth Games Association (ACGA) for hosting the GC2018.

Grants and subsidies

Industry
Individuals

Charities/community groupsCharities/community groups
Queensland and local governmentQueensland and local government
Queensland and local governmentCapital Grants (1)

Commonwealth governmentCommonwealth government
Contributions
Total
(1) In 2015-16, $85.5 million in capital grants has been paid to Department of State Development (DSD) for construction of GC2018 venues.

Accounting Policy - Grants and Subsidies

A non reciprocal grant is a payment or contribution made to an organisation or person which is not to be repaid or reciprocated, but which must be spent 
by the recipient for a specific purpose. Accordingly, non reciprocated grant payments are expensed when payment is made. Where the grant payment is 
reciprocal in nature, an asset (prepayment) is recognised when payment is made. This prepayment is expensed as the grant recipient satisfies the 
performance obligation under the funding agreement.

1,507                  878                   
113,874              30,236              

74                       3,820                

4,502                  

593                   

1,339                

These levies are expensed in the period in which they are payable. Amounts paid to employees for long service leave and annual leave are claimed from 
the scheme quarterly in arrears.

623                     477                   
1                         1                       

4                         20                     

97,895                20,590              

791                     801                   

231                   

125                     
77                       75                     

Workers' compensation insurance are a consequence of employing employees, but are not counted in an employee's total remuneration package. It is not 
employee benefits and is recognised separately as employee related expenses.

2016 2015

319                     

6.

(c) Long Service Leave and Annual Leave

(d) Superannuation

7.

1,100                  107                   
495                     -                        

5.

Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected to continue in future 
periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is 
recognised. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave as it is taken.

$'000 $'000

12,799                4,821                

3,416                  3,364                

148                     

12,636                10,932              

156                     135                   
29                       2                       

The number of employees as at 30 June 2016, including both full-time employees and part-time employees, measured on a full-time basis as provided to 
the Public Service Commission (PSC) and utilised in the preparation of the Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information (MOHRI) is:

Employer superannuation contributions are paid to QSuper, the superannuation scheme for Queensland Government employees, at rates determined by 
the Treasurer on the advice of the State Actuary. Contributions are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable. The department’s obligation 
is limited to its contribution to QSuper.

(e) Key Management Personnel and Remuneration

Key management personnel and remuneration disclosures are made in accordance with part 3C of the Financial Reporting Requirements for Queensland 
Government Agencies issued by QT. Refer to Note 19 for disclosures on key executive management personnel and remuneration.

3,283                
1,694                  

Accounting Policy Notes

Employer superannuation contributions, annual leave levies and long service leave levies are regarded as employee benefits.

343                     

132                   
357                   
143                   

131

(b) Wages, Salaries and Sick Leave

Wages and salaries due but unpaid at reporting date are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at the current salary rates. 
As the department expects such liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, the liabilities are recognised at undiscounted amounts.

Under the Queensland Government’s Long Service Leave Scheme (LSL) and Annual Leave Central Scheme (ALCS), levies are payable by the 
department to cover the cost of employees’ long service leave and annual leave (including leave loading and on-costs). Hence, no provision for long 
service leave and annual leave will be recognised in the department's financial statements. Instead, the provision for these schemes are reported on a 
whole of government basis pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.

413                     

20152016
170

(a) Employee Expenses
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

Other expenses

External audit fees External audit fees (1)

Insurance premiums - QGIFInsurance premiums - Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF)
Gifts and donations - other expGifts and donations

Sponsorships 
Other expenses Other expenses

Total 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalentsCash at bank
Total 

Receivables

Trade debtors
Less: allowance for impairment lossLess: allowance for impairment loss
Equity Injections ReceivableEquity adjustment receivable
GST receivable GST receivable 
Appropriation revenue receivableAppropriation revenue receivable (1)

Annual leave levy reimbursementsAnnual leave levy reimbursements
Long service leave levy reimbursementsLong service leave levy reimbursements
Other current ReceivableOther current receivable

Total 

Other current assets

Prepayments - CurrentPrepayments (1)

Total

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment: At cost
Plant and equipment Gross
Plant and equipment - accumulated depreciationLess: accumulated depreciation

Total 

Capital work in progress: At cost
. At cost

Total capital work in progress

Total Plant and Equipment

Plant and Equipment Reconciliation

Carrying amount at 1 July 2014
Acquisitions (1)

Depreciation
Carrying amount at Carrying amount at 30 June 2015

2                       

-                         

-                         

(313)                   

2                       

2,845                

-                        

2015

1,675                  

244                   

187                   

471                     

2016

Departmental bank accounts grouped within the whole-of-Government set-off arrangement with the Queensland Treasury Corporation do not earn
interest on surplus funds. Interest earned on the aggregate set-off arrangement balance accrues to the Consolidated Fund. 

2,210                

463                   

-                         

23                     

12,321                

158                     

158                     

412                   
412                   

614                   

202                   

171                     

129                     
232                   

93                       

2,845                

69                       

160                   

5,208                  
5,208                  

3                         

208                   

Accounting Policy - Cash and cash equivalents

13                     

10.

8.

9.

(1) Queensland Audit Office (QAO) fees for audit of the 2015-16 and 2014-15 financial statements are estimated to be $106,700 and $120,000
respectively. There are no non-audit services included in this amount. 

122                   

1                       

$'000$'000

22                       

-                        

593                     

The collectability of receivables is assessed periodically with provision being made for impairment. All known bad debts are written-off as at 30 June.

Trade debtors are recognised at the amounts due at the time of sale or service delivery i.e. the agreed purchase/contract price. Settlement of these 
amounts is generally required within 30 days from the invoice date. 

-                        

31                     

11.

(261)                  

12.

$'000

256                                               662                               918                   

-                                                    15,096                          15,096              

(54)                                                -                                   (54)                    

Plant and Equipment Total

2015 2015 2015
$'000 $'000

12,321                

73                       

(1) For 2015-16, appropriation receivable relates solely to an appropriation receivable for the Tourism Demand Driver Infrastructure (TDDI) program.

For the purposes of the Statement of Financial Position and the Statement of Cash Flows, cash assets include all cash and cheques receipted but not
banked as at 30 June 2016.

1                         
24                       

Accounting Policy - Receivables

1,306                

-                         

142                     

640                     

(1) Prepayments in 2015-16 relate primarily relate to funds paid to the DSD for GC2018 venues works.

                                               202                                412 614                   

Capital Works
 in Progress

Transfer out to other Qld Government entities (2) -                                                    (15,346)                        (15,346)             
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

Plant and equipment (cont'd)

Plant and Equipment Reconciliation (cont'd)

Carrying amount at 1 July 2015
Acquisitions (1)

Transferred to capital grants expense (3)

Depreciation
Carrying amount at Carrying amount at 30 June 2016

(1)

(2)

(3)

Payables

Current
Trade Creditors (1)

Taxes payable
Grants payable
Other
Total 

This relates to the transfer of venues capital works in progress for the GC2018 to SQ.

(412)                             (412)                  

This relates to the change in recognition for the Belmont Shooting Centre which is no longer being capitalised and subsequently a carried forward 
balance of $0.412 million has been expensed via Capital Grants.

165                     -                        

                                                            - 

Capital Works
 in Progress

Acquisitions of capital works in progress in 2014-15 of $15.096 million are for the GC2018 venues of the Queensland State Velodrome Cycling 
Track and the Belmont Shooting Centre and 2015-16 aquisitions of $37.738 million are for the GC2018 venues of the Queensland State 
Velodrome Cycling Track and Carrara Stadium facilities.

                                    - 

3,197                
13                       

$'000 $'000

Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the nominal amount i.e. purchase/contract price, gross 
of applicable trade and other discounts. Amounts owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day terms.

(52)                                                       

TotalPlant and Equipment

-                         

158                   

Plant  and equipment Office equipment

$'000

                               412 

2016

                                                       202 614                   
37,745              

158                                               

2016 2015

(52)                    

Accounting Policy -  Payables

Leasehold improvements 

3,210                
(1) Included in 2015-16 is $3.359 million relating to GC2018 security planning undertaken in 2015-16 by Queensland Police Service (QPS) and 
Queensland Fire and Emergency Services (QFES).

37,738                          

                                                            - 

4,569                  

4,747                  
2                       

$'000

11                     

(37,738)             
                                                           8 

Where assets are received free of charge from another Queensland Government department (whether as a result of a machinery-of-Government change
or other involuntary transfer), the acquisition cost is recognised as the gross carrying amount in the books of the transferor immediately prior to the
transfer together with any accumulated depreciation.

Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, other than from an involuntary transfer from another Queensland Government entity, are
recognised at their fair value at the date of acquisition in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment. 

Items of plant and equipment, with a cost or other value equal to or in excess of the following thresholds are recognised for financial reporting purposes in
the year of acquisition:

Asset class Category Average rate %

13.

10%

Accounting Policy Notes

(a) Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment where applicable have been valued in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment and Queensland Treasury's Non-
Current Asset Accounting Policies for the Queensland Public Sector (NCAP). The asset class has been tested for indicators of impairment, based on
materiality.  The carrying amounts for plant and equipment at cost should not be materially different from their fair value.
(b) Acquisitions of assets

Actual cost is used for the initial recording of all non-current physical asset acquisitions. Cost is determined as the value given as consideration plus costs
incidental to the acquisition, including all other costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use, including architects’ fees and engineering design fees.
However, any training costs are expensed as incurred.

2016

(c) Depreciation of plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the net cost or revalued amount of each asset, less its estimated residual
value, progressively over its estimated useful life to the department.

Assets under construction (work-in-progress) are not depreciated until they reach service delivery capacity. Service delivery capacity relates to when
construction is complete and the asset is first put to use or is installed ready for use in accordance with its intended application.

The depreciable amount of improvements is allocated progressively over the estimated useful lives of the improvements or the unexpired period of the
lease, whichever is the shorter.  The unexpired period of a lease includes any option period where exercise of the option is probable.

For each class of depreciable asset the following depreciation rates are used:

12.

2016

20%

$'000

Plant and equipment $5,000      

Items with a lesser value are expensed in the year of acquisition.

(37,738)                        Transfer out to other Qld Government entities (2)

-                                   
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Accrued employee benefits

Annual leave payable Annual leave payable
Long service leave levy payableLong service leave payable

Salaries and allowances
Total 

Other current liabilities

Unearned revenue Appropriation Payable to Queensland Treasury (1)

Total 

Commitments for expenditure

(a)  Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

. Not later than one year

. Later than one year and not later than five years

. Later than five years
Total 

(b)  Grants and subsidies commitments

. Not later than one year

. Later than one year and not later than five years
Total 

(c)  Other expenditure commitments

. Not later than one year

. Later than one year and not later than five years

. Later than five years
Total 

Contingencies

Financial instruments

(a)  Categorisation of financial instruments

Category
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9
Receivables 10
Total 

Financial liabilities
Payables 13
Other current liabilities 15
Total

(1) This End of Year (EOY) payable principally represents funding for GC2018 venues which is partially offset by EOY receivables for the Attracting 
Aviation Investment Fund (AAIF) and the BIP.

Other expenditure commitments (inclusive of non-recoverable GST input tax credits), committed at the end of the reporting period, but not
recognised in the accounts are payable as follows:

137,566              180,173            

496                   

(17,014)              

19,124                

•      Receivables – held at amortised cost.

DTESB administers the budget for the capital infrastructure program (excluding the Games Village) for the hosting of the GC2018. The amounts included
in the above table are the current budget estimates for this program of works. This table also includes commitments in accordance with the endorsed
agreement with the ACG Incorporated to secure marketing rights for the GC2018.

•      

(12,267)              -                        

246,389              292,281            

Classification

108,823              112,090            
-                         18                     

16.

1,460                

53,790                
34,666                

12,267                

14,232              

15,805                

The department has the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:

1,675                  2,210                

Payables – held at amortised cost.

(4,747)                (3,210)               

(3,210)               

281                     

Commitments under operating leases at reporting date (inclusive of non-recoverable GST input tax credits) are payable as follows:

18,706              
12,066              

Grants and subsidies commitments (inclusive of non-recoverable GST input tax credits), committed to be provided at reporting date, but not recognised in
the accounts are payable as follows:

There are no contingencies to be disclosed as at 30 June 2016.

430                     

$'000
2016

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the department becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument.

1,864                  

-                        

7,512                  

Financial instruments are classified and measured as follows:

8,265                

Recognition

6,883                  5,055                

22,497              

66                     

25,181                

5,180                

2015

15.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

18.

17.

-                        

5,208                  2,845                

14.

797                     

327                   

DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES

$'000

86                       
103                   

12,267                

The 2014-15 comparatives for all commitments have been re-cast to reflect a change in the application of GST recognition as per QT's Financial
Reporting Requirements. Previously the GST inclusive amount was shown, now only the non-recoverable GST input tax credits are included.
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

Financial instruments (cont'd)

(b)  Financial risk management

Risk exposure Measurement method

(c)  Credit risk exposure

Financial assets

      
$'0

(d)  Liquidity risk

(e)  Market risk

(f)  Fair value

< 30 days
$'000

-                         
Receivables

Liquidity risk Sensitivity analysis
Market risk Interest rate sensitivity analysis

No financial assets or financial liabilities have been offset and presented net in the Statement of Financial Position.

The Department does not recognise any financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. The fair value of trade receivables and
payables is assumed to approximate the value of the original transaction, less any allowance for impairment. The department has no borrowings or
financial assets held to maturity.

69

Credit risk Ageing analysis

2                        1                         

The department’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks – credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

Financial risk management is implemented pursuant to Government and departmental policy. These policies focus on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the department.

All financial risk is managed by Financial and Asset Management under policies approved by the department. The department provides written principles
for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas. The department measures risk exposure using a variety of methods as follows:

The department manages credit risk through the use of a credit management strategy. This strategy aims to reduce the exposure to credit default by
ensuring that the department invests in secure assets and monitors all funds owed on a timely basis. Exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing
basis.

Credit risk exposure refers to the situation where the department may incur financial loss as a result of another party to a financial instrument failing to
discharge their obligation.

-                         

2015 Financial Assets Past Due But Not Impaired 

Total

2016 Financial Assets Past Due But Not Impaired

135                     

18.

Overdue

The allowance for impairment reflects the occurrence of loss events. The most readily identifiable loss event is where a debtor is overdue in paying a debt
to the department, according to the due date (normally terms of 30 days). Economic changes impacting the department's debtors, and relevant industry
data, also form part of the department's documented risk analysis.

> 60 days
$'000

Total

2                        
135                     

69

138                   

If no loss events have arisen in respect of a particular debtor or group of debtors, no allowance for impairment is made in respect of that debt/group of
debtors. If the department determines that an amount owing by such a debtor does become uncollectible (after appropriate range of debt recovery
actions), that amount is recognised as a Bad Debt expense and written-off directly against Receivables. In other cases where a debt becomes
uncollectible but the uncollectible amount exceeds the amount already allowed for impairment of that debt, the excess is recognised directly as a Bad
Debt expense and written-off directly against Receivables.

Receivables

69                     -                         
69                     

The department does not trade in foreign currency and does not enter into transactions for speculative purposes. The department does not undertake any
hedging in relation to interest risk and manages its risk as per the department's liquidity risk management strategy articulated in the department's
Financial Management Practice Manual.

The liquidity risk of financial liabilities held by the department represents the contractual maturity of financial liabilities and it is calculated based on
undiscounted cash flows relating to the liabilities at reporting date. For DTESB, these liabilities are no more than 12 months from the reporting date. Refer
to the disclosure in the Financial Liabilities section in Note 18(a).

30-60 days

138                   1                         

No collateral is held as security and no credit enhancements relate to financial assets held by the department.

The carrying amount of receivables represents the maximum exposure to credit risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets
inclusive of any provisions for impairment.

Liquidity risk refers to the situation where the department may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled
by delivering cash or another financial asset.

The department is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of its payables for capital works. 

The department manages liquidity risk through the use of a liquidity management strategy. This strategy aims to reduce the exposure to liquidity risk by
ensuring the department has sufficient funds available to meet employee and supplier obligations as they fall due. This is achieved by ensuring that
minimum levels of cash are held within the various bank accounts so as to match the expected duration of the various employee and supplier liabilities.

$'000

-                         

No financial assets have had their terms renegotiated to prevent them from being past due or impaired, and are stated at the carrying amounts as 
indicated.

There were no individually impaired financial assets as at 30 June 2016 or as at 30 June 2015. Ageing of past due but not impaired are disclosed in the 
following table:

 $'000
 Total 
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

Key management personnel and remuneration expenses

a) Key executive management personnel

Current CEO / s.122 Public Service Act 2008

Contract Classification and Appointment Authority

Date of  Initial 
Appointment

22 February 2013 16 October 2015

Executive Director, Small Business

SES2 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008

The Executive Director, Regional Services is responsible for developing and nurturing key regional relationships and ensuring effective development and
delivery of policy and programs in Queensland’s regions to meet government priorities in tourism and small business.

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of  Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation      
or Cessation

Temporary 
Relieving SES2 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008 28 September 2015 11 December 2015

16 May 2016

Former SES2 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008 25 June 2012

Former SES2 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008 1 April 2013

-

SES2 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008 7 December 2015

Executive Director, Business Online Solutions

Date of Resignation      
or Cessation

Date of  Initial 
Appointment

The Director-General directs the overall efficient, effective and economical administration of the department.

Former CEO / s.92 Public Service Act 2008 3 April 2012

Deputy Director-General, Commonwealth Games
The Deputy Director-General, Office of the Commonwealth Games is responsible for the efficient, effective and economic administration of the
Commonwealth Games responsibility for the department.

Incumbent

19.

Date of  Initial 
Appointment

Incumbent

-

Assistant Director-General, Commonwealth Games

CEO / s.92 Public Service Act 2008

3 July 2015 6 September 2015

Former SES3 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008 21 April 2012

The Assistant Director-General, Office of the Commonwealth Games is responsible for the efficient, effective and economic administration of the
Commonwealth Games responsibility for the department.

21 September 2015

Temporary 
Relieving SES3 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008 15 February 2016 -

Temporary 
Relieving CEO / s.92 Public Service Act 2008

Director-General

7 September 2015

-

Contract Classification and Appointment Authority

The following details for key management personnel include those positions that had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the
activities of the department during 2015-16. Further information on these positions can be found in the body of the Annual Report under the section
relating to Executive Management.

2 July 2015

3 August 2015

Temporary 
Relieving SES3 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008 4 January 2016 12 February 2016

2 August 2015

13 May 2016

Incumbent Date of Resignation      
or Cessation

Current

21 July 2015

SES2 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008 22 July 2015 2 October 2015

Temporary 
Relieving

Temporary 
Relieving

6 October 2015

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority

18 September 2015 2 October 2015

Executive Director, Regional Services

Former SES2 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008 25 June 2012

Former

11 December 2015

The Executive Director, Small Business is responsible for the efficient, effective and economic administration of the development and facilitation of
effective Queensland small businesses for the department.

Incumbent Date of Resignation      
or Cessation

SES2 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008

Temporary 
Relieving

Contract Classification and Appointment Authority

Temporary 
Relieving SES3 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008

The Executive Director, Business Online Solutions is responsible for the efficient, effective and economic administration of service delivery methods,
process and functions across multiple platforms and departments.

Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of  Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation      
or Cessation

Date of  Initial 
Appointment

27 September 2015

SES2 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008

Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of  Initial 
Appointment

SES3 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008

-

Deputy Director-General, Tourism

Current

The Deputy Director-General, Tourism is responsible for the efficient, effective and economic administration of the Commonwealth Games responsibility
for the department.

Incumbent

Date of Resignation      
or Cessation

Date of Resignation      
or Cessation

31 December 2015

Current
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

b) Remuneration

Remuneration expenses for key management personnel comprise the following components:
• Short term employee expenses which include:

○

○
○

• 
• 
• 

1 July 2015 - June 2016

Executive Director, Office of the 
Director-General 52 - - 0 58

Total 1,532 - 181 205 2,076

- 0 17Director, Office of the Director-
General 15 -

29 February 2016

Post-employment expenses include amounts expensed in respect of employer superannuation obligations.

salaries, allowances and leave entitlements earned and expensed for the entire year or for that part of the year during which the employee was a
key management person. 

Director-General - Former (1) (2)

Executive Director, Business 
Online Solutions - Former (1) 124

-

Deputy Director-General, Tourism

Termination benefits are not generally provided for within individual contracts of employment. Contracts of employment generally provide only for
notice periods or payment in lieu of notice on termination, regardless of the reason for termination.

113 - 144 180 441

- 37 3 182

Executive Director, Regional 
Services 86 - -

(1) Where a termination payment has been made to the former encumbent these expenses have been seperately identified as they are in excess of the
normal costs of the role.

2 103

- 2 250

Deputy Director-General, 
Commonwealth Games 241 -

226 -

Executive Director, Small 
Business 180 - 3 194

- 5

7

11

271

Assistant Director-General, 
Commonwealth Games 72 - - 1 80

The former Director-General's contract under the previous Government also provided for an At Risk Component payment.

Position

Short Term Employee Expenses Termination 
Benefits

Long Term 
Employee 
Expenses

Total 
Expenses

Monetary
Expenses

$ '000

Non-Monetary
Benefits  

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

performance payments recognised as an expense during the year.

The following disclosures focus on the expenses incurred by the department during the respective reporting periods, that is attributable to key
management positions.  Therefore, the amounts disclosed reflect expenses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The mutually agreed terms for separation of the former Director-General considered all relevant clauses of his contract. The payment for the former
Director-General's separation was determined and paid in August 2015 and is included in KMP remuneration expenses for 2015-16.

19. Key management personnel and remuneration expenses (cont'd)

 Director, Office of the Director-General

Date of  Initial 
Appointment

-Temporary 
Relieving SES2 / s.110 Public Service Act 2008

Date of Resignation      
or CessationIncumbent

Long term employee expenses include amounts expensed in respect of long service leave entitlements earned.

4 August 2015

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority

Former

Date of  Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation      
or Cessation

SO(2) / s.119 Public Service Act 2008 2 April 2012

Remuneration policy for the department's key management personnel is set by the PSC as provided for under the Public Service Act 2008 . Individual
remuneration and other terms of employment (including motor vehicle entitlements) are specified in employment contracts. 

In addition to the above, the Deputy Director-General, Corporate and Executive Director, Finance and Asset Management (Chief Financial Officer) of the
DAF are shared positions with DTESB. These positions are fully funded by DAF to 30 June 2016 as per the BCP arrangement.

Executive Director, Business 
Online Solutions 39 -

Contract Classification and Appointment Authority

 Executive Director, Office of the Director-General
The Executive Director, Office of the Director-General is responsible for the efficient, effective and economic administration of the Office of the Director-
General for the department.

non-monetary benefits - consisting of provision of vehicle together with fringe benefits tax applicable to the benefit.

The Director, Office of the Director-General is responsible for the efficient, effective and economic administration of the Office of the Director-General for
the department.

Director-General 383 - - 7 435

Post 
Employment 

Expenses

$ '000

45

4

22

25

444- 1

18

15

2

6

159

(2) The short term employee benefits include a 2014-15 At Risk Component Equivalent payment, annual car allowance and payout of recreation leave.
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

Key management personnel and remuneration expenses (cont'd)

b) Remuneration (cont'd)

1 July 2014 - 30 June 2015

Events occurring after balance date

Former Director-General The remuneration package for the former Director-General 
provided for performance payments (also known as an “At Risk” 
Component) to be made conditional on the achievement of 
objectives that were documented in that position’s performance 
agreement. The mutually agreed terms for separation of the 
former Director-General considered all relevant clauses of their 
contract and subsequently an "At Risk Equivalent" Component 
payment was made for the 2014-15 financial year. 

Position Amount

$33,808

Assistant Director-General, 
Commonwealth Games -

Date Paid
N/A

-

234

-

Amount

-

N/A

Executive Director, Small 
Business

Current Director-General

Pay Period Ended 21 
August 2015

$35,779

The basis for performance payments expensed in the 2014-15 financial year is set out below:

The remuneration package for the current Director-General does 
not provide for any performance or bonus payments.

4

Short Term Employee Expenses Termination 
Benefits

Total

205

$ '000

-

The remuneration package for the former Director-General 
provided for performance payments (also known as an “At Risk” 
Component) to be made conditional on the achievement of 
objectives that were documented in that position’s performance 
agreement. The basis for payment was subject to a rigorous and 
independent assessment of those performance objectives and 
agreed KPIs being achieved, culminating in recommendations to 
the Premier. The Premier retained ultimate discretion as to 
whether payment of the “at risk” component was paid, including 
the amount payable. The former Director-General became 
entitled to receive a performance payment in respect of the 2013-
14 year following authorisation by the former Premier.

122

-

223

Date Paid

Non-Monetary 
Benefits

$ '000

Executive Director, Regional 
Services 171

-

There were no events subsequent to balance date, which would have a material effect on the information provided in the department’s controlled or
administered financial statements. 

140

- 1,640

c) Performance payments

1,456

262

Director-General Pay Period Ended 17 
October 2014

The basis for performance payments expensed in the 2015-16 financial year is set out below:

-

$ '000

-

4

-

-

19.

Long Term 
Employee 
Expenses

4

6

Total 
Expenses

-

Position Basis for Payment

163

181

3

4

Director, Office of the Director-
General

28

251

-

184

Monetary 
Expenses

$ '000

3

Executive Director, Business 
Online Solutions 

20.

$ '000

-

Position

405Director-General (1)

(1) The short term employee benefits include the 2013-14 At Risk Component payment.

Basis for Entitlement and Assessment

193

Deputy Director-General, Tourism

-

362

Post 
Employment 

Expenses

$ '000

37

24

24

18

20

18

15

156

Page 20 of 27



64
Annual report 2015–2016 Department of Tourism, Major Events, Small Business and the Commonwealth Games

DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

21. Budget vs actual comparison

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Income from operations
Appropriation revenue Appropriation revenue 1
User charges and feesUser charges and fees 2
Grants and other contributionsGrants and other contributions 3

Other revenue 4
Total income from operations 

Expenses from operations -   
Employee expenses Employee expenses 5
Supplies and services Supplies and services 6
Grants and subsidies Grants and subsidies 7
Depreciation and amortisationDepreciation and amortisation
Other expenses Other expenses

Total expenses from  operations

Operating result for the year

Total comprehensive income

Explanation of major variances in the financial statements

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

145,392             

The increase principally relates to the return of funds from the 2015 AFC Asian Cup and the Gold Coast Theme Park Capital of Australia campaign.

(1)                      
205,186              29                     

52                      

-                         

$'000 $'000

54                       
34,598                

-                      
116,751             

(1)                       

-                         

148,472              

1,591                  

430                    
(58,933)              

26,620               (2,882)                

% of Budget

(34)                    

The increase principally relates to a realignment of staffing requirements within the OCG to deliver the GC2018. Additional increases are due to 
enterprise bargaining agreement (EBA) outcomes.

Variance

4                       
142                    141                     

2016

-                         

The decrease relates largely to the realignment of expenditure from 2015-16 to match anticipated payments for GC2018 venues and GC2018 
operational contingencies. Part of the change to funding relates to additional works undertaken on the Village Roadshow Sound Stage 9, 
discontinuation of works at the Runaway Bay Sports Centre and a revised schedule of works from 2015-16 to 2016-17 for venues in the Carrrara 
precint. Additionally there have been changes to the timing of funding requirements for AAIF, BIP and TDDI programs.

The decrease relates to the timing of funding from CGC to match GC2018 anticipated activity expenditure.

The decrease relates largely to a realignment to match the timing of anticipated expenditure for the BIP and GC2018 operational contingencies.

145,392             
-1,591                 

-                         

59,794                

- -

-

Variance
2016

2                         

(59,794)              

-

14,992                (25)                    

205,186              

(3,697)                
28,891                70                     

Actual

(29)                    

29,502                (10)                    

12,636               41,527                

The variance relates to revenue received from Department of Science, Information Technology and Innovation (DSITI) for the upgrades of the BIP 
as part of the One Stop Shop initiative, not envisaged at time of the budget being finalised.

Variance

$'000

175,684              
430                     

A budget vs actual comparison, and explanations of major variances, has not been included for the Statement of Changes in Equity, as major
variances relating to that statement have been addressed in explanations of major variances for other statements.

18,689               

23                     

The decrease principally relates to the realignment of expenditure from 2015-16 to match anticipated payments for GC2018 venues. Part of the 
change relates to additional works undertaken on the Village Roadshow Sound Stage 9, discontinuation of works at the Runaway Bay Sports 
Centre and a revised schedule of works from 2015-16 to 2016-17 for venues in the Carrrara precint.

113,874             

Notes

-                      

Original Budget

-
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

21. Budget vs actual comparison (cont'd)

Statement of Financial Position

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8
Receivables 9
Other current assets 10
Total current assets

Non-current assets
Plant and equipment 11
Total non-current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities
Payables 12
Accrued employee benefits 13
Other current liabilities 14
Total current liabilities

Net assets

Equity
Contributed equity 15
Accumulated surplus/deficit
Total equity

Explanation of major variances in the financial statements

8.

9.

Variance

The increase largely relates to additional salary and wages payable for additional working days following the final pay in June.

14. The variance principally represents funding for GC2018 venues payable to QT which is partially offset by EOY receivables for the AAIF and the BIP.

10.

Original Budget

The increase largely relates to EOY payables for GC2018 security planning undertaken in 2015-16 by QPS & QFES.

The increase relates to the timing of EOY receivables primarily a Commonwealth appropriation revenue receivable for the TDDI program.

The increase largely relates to additional EOY payables for GC2018 security planning undertaken in 2015-16 by QPS & QFES.

The increase relates to prepayments predominantly being for DSD relating to the GC2018 venues works program.

12.

The decrease relates to the transfer to SQ of GC2018 venues upgrades for State owned venues being the Queensland State Velodrome and 
Carrara Stadium facilities.

(100)                  

1,551                 

797                    

60,541                (97)                    

(4,141)                

(16,815)              

0                       

541                     
965                     

12,321               

(100)                  158                    
158                    

(104)                  

$'000 % of Budget
20162016

Actual Variance

(42,175)              

11,183                983                   

4,667                  

-                          -
17,811               996                     (1,688)               

60,541                (58,990)              

19,204               2,389                  

59,148                

863                   
1,675                 

704                   16,815                

12,267               

5,208                 

$'000 $'000

390                     

136                   710                     
1,138                  

(58,990)              59,148                
(58,990)              

13.

(58,990)              1,551                 
321                     

(58,990)              
0                         

(97)                    

(407)                   
(12,267)              

11.

15.

The decrease relates largely to the transfer of capital works in progress for GC2018 venues to SQ, which controls the Queensland State Velodrome 
and Carrara Stadium facilities.

60,220                (98)                    
321                    

Variance
Notes

4,747                 

19,362               61,537                (69)                    

606                     (683)                  

1,229                 
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

21. Budget vs actual comparison (cont'd)

Statement of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities
Inflows:
Service appropriation receipts 16
User charges 17
Grants and other contributions 18
GST input tax credits from Australian Taxation Office
GST collected from customers
Other inflows 19

Outflows:
Employee expenses 20
Supplies and services 21
Grants and subsidies 22
GST remitted to Australian Taxation Office
GST paid to suppliers
Other outflows

Cash flows from investing activities                                                                                                            
Outflows:
Payments for plant and equipment 23
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Inflows:
Equity injections 23
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year

Explanation of major variances in the financial statements

2016

(3,410)                
17,823                

The decrease largely relates to a realignment to match the timing of anticipated expenditure for the GC2018 venues construction for state owned 
venues being the Queensland State Velodrome and Carrara Stadium facilities.

22. The decrease principally relates to the realignment of expenditure from 2015-16 to match anticipated payments for GC2018 venues. Part of the 
change relates to additional works undertaken on the Village Roadshow Sound Stage 9, discontinuation of works at the Runaway Bay Sports 
Centre and a revised schedule of works from 2015-16 to 2016-17 for venues in the Carrrara precint.

23.

(18,390)              (14,980)               

$'000

5,693                  

$'000

19.

(43,439)               
(37,746)              (43,439)               

35,176                

Variance

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

(35)                      (1,829)               
175,684              

-

-

(2,153)                

18.

2,510                  

1,594                 -                          -

48                       

16.

17.

$'000

(6,036)                

(144)                   
2,726                 

129,684             

23                     

(123)                    

-                          

13                     

20.

196                     

(21)                     

(14)                    

2,785                 
3,856                

2016

(1,106)               

The increase principally relates to the return of funds from the 2015 AFC Asian Cup and the Gold Coast Theme Park Capital of Australia campaign.

13                     

(14)                    

725                   

37,383               

The decrease relates to the timing of funding from CGC to match GC2018 anticipated activity expenditure.

5,693                  

21.

5,208                 

(23,585)              (41,408)               43                     

2,167                  
2,500                  

The increase principally relates to a realignment of staffing requirements within the OCG to deliver the GC2018. Additional increases are due to 
EBA outcomes.

The increase largely relates to revenue received from DSITI for the upgrades of the BIP as part of the One Stop Shop initiative.

2,845                 345                     

43,419                

(37,746)              

(148,472)             

2,363                 

43,419                

(26)                    

-                          

541                     

The decrease relates largely to a realignment to match the timing of anticipated expenditure for the BIP and GC2018 operational contingencies.

863                   4,667                  

605                    

(6,036)                
37,383               

29,502                (10)                    
1,899                 

(46,000)              

216                     
17                     

(2,893)                -                          

(113,296)            

1,162                

(2,893)                

640                     
26,620               

-

Original Budget Actual Variance Variance

(2,882)                
1,851                  
2,785                  
1,594                  

% of Budget

(2,153)                
24                     

Notes

The decrease relates largely to the realignment of expenditure from 2015-16 to match anticipated payments for GC2018 venues and GC2018 
operational contingencies. Part of the change to funding relates to additional works undertaken on the Village Roadshow Sound Stage 9, 
discontinuation of works at the Runaway Bay Sports Centre and a revised schedule of works from 2015-16 to 2016-17 for venues in the Carrrara 
precint. Additionally there have been changes to the timing of funding requirements for AAIF, BIP and TDDI programs.
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

Schedule of administered items              $'000

Administered Income
Admin appropriation revenueAppropriation revenue

Total Administered Income

Administered Expenses
Admin Grants and subsidiesGrants and subsidies(1)

Total Administered Expenses

Operating Surplus/(Deficit)

Administered Assets
Current Assets

Admin receivable Appropriation Revenue Receivables
Total Current Assets

Administered Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Admin Payable Payables
Total Current Liabilities

Net Administered Assets

(1) Administered grants and services

Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games Corporation (GOLDOC)
Tourism and Events Queensland (TEQ)

Budgeted appropriation
Lapsed administered appropriation
Unforeseen expenditure

Accounting policies applicable to administered items are consistent with the equivalent policies for controlled items, unless stated otherwise.

22.

942                     

-                        

129,168            

-                         

942                     1,506                

97,740              

2016
                 $'000

942                     1,506                

Accounting Policy - Administered Items

The department administers, but does not control, certain activities on behalf of the government. In doing so, it has the responsibility for administering 
those activities (and related transactions and balances) efficiently and effectively, but does not have the discretion to deploy those resources for the 
achievement of the department's own objectives.

129,168            

Less: Opening balance of administered revenue receivable (1,506)                (14,853)             
Plus: Closing balance of administered revenue receivable 942                     1,506                
Administered revenue recognised in Note 22 167,448              129,168            

167,448              

-                         

167,448              

$'000

129,168            

942                     1,506                

129,168            

71,518                

-                        

170,386              119,393            

1,506                

95,930                

Amounts appropriated to the department for transfer to other entities in accordance with legislative or other requirements are reported as 'administered' 
item appropriations.

31,428              

167,448              

(2,374)                -                        
-                         23,122              

Total administered receipts 168,012              142,515            

167,448              

23. Reconciliation of payments from consolidated fund to administered income

2015

167,448              129,168            
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DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, MAJOR EVENTS, SMALL BUSINESS AND THE COMMONWEALTH GAMES
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016

             $'000

Administered Items

Administered Income
Admin appropriation revenueAppropriation revenue 24

Total Administered Income

Administered expenses
Admin Grants and subsidiesGrants and subsidies 25

Total Administered expenses

Operating Surplus/(Deficit)

Administered assets
Current 

Admin receivable Appropriation revenue receivable 26
Total Current Assets

Administered liabilities
Current 

Admin Payable Payables 27
Total Current Liabilities

Net Administered Assets

Administered equity
Admin Contributed equity Contributed equity
Admin Accumulated Surplus/DeficitAccumulated Surplus/Deficit

Total Administered Equity

Explanation of major variances in the financial statements

26. The variance is due to the 2015-16 EOY receivable from QT for Administered Appropriation.

24. The decrease principally relates to the realignment of funding for TEQ to match cash flows to known commitments for tourism campaigns and 
events.

25. The decrease principally relates to the realignment of grant expenses for TEQ to match cash flows to known commitments for tourism campaigns 
and events.

-                         

27. The variance is due to the EOY payable to TEQ for their final 2015-16 tourism campaigns and events expenditure.

-                          

(942)                   

-                          

-                          

-                        

-                         -
-                         -

-                         

-                         

-                         

-                         -                        
-                         

% of Budget

170,386              
170,386              

170,386              2,938                  

(2)                      

170,386              2,938                  

Notes

-                         -                        

167,448             

(942)                   

-

167,448             (2)                      

942                    
942                     
942                     

-                          

Variance

24.

-                          
-                          

942                    -
942                    -                        -                          

942                    

$'000

167,448             2                       

(2,938)                

Actual

-                        

(2,938)                167,448             

Administered Activities  Budget vs actual comparison

Original Budget

2                       

Variance Variance
2016 2016
$'000 $'000

-                         -                          

-                          
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Certificate of the Department of Tourism, Major Events, Small Business and the Commonwealth Games

Mike Richards B.Com., MIPA Megan Houghton
Chief Finance Officer (Acting)
Executive Director

………………………………………….. …………………………………………..

Date Date

the financial statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with prescribed accounting standards, of the
transactions of the Department of Tourism, Major Events, Small Business and the Commonwealth Games for the financial year ended 30 June
2016 and of the financial position of the department at the end of that year; and

these assertions are based on an appropriate system of internal controls and risk management processes being effective, in all material respects, 
with respect to financial reporting throughout the reporting period.

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to s.62(1) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009  (the Act), section 42 of the 
Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009  and other prescribed requirements.  In accordance with s.62(1)(b) of the Act we certify that in our 
opinion:

c)

a)

Director-General

the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with in all material respects; and

b)
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Appendix 1: Statutory bodies 

Table A1   Statutory authorities in the Tourism, Major Events, Small Business and the Commonwealth Games 
portfolio, 2015–16

Name

Type of statutory 
authority or 
instrumentality Functions

Legislation under 
which the body 
was established

Annual reporting 
arrangement

Gold Coast 2018 
Commonwealth 
Games 
Corporation

Statutory body To undertake and facilitate the 
organisation, conduct, promotion 
and commercial and financial 
management of GC2018

Commonwealth 
Games 
Arrangements Act 
2011

Annual report tabled 
in Parliament

Tourism 
and Events 
Queensland

Statutory body To attract international and 
domestic travellers to travel to 
and within Queensland through:

• the promotion and marketing 
of Queensland

• tourism experience and 
destination development

To identify, attract, develop and 
promote major events for the 
state that:

• contribute to the Queensland 
economy

• attract visitors to Queensland

• enhance the profile of 
Queensland

• foster community pride in 
Queensland

To work collaboratively with the 
department and other public 
sector units and Queensland 
tourism industry participants to 
identify opportunities to increase 
tourism and travel to and within 
Queensland

To conduct research into, 
and analysis of, tourism in 
Queensland

Tourism and Events 
Queensland Act 
2012

Annual report tabled 
in Parliament
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Appendix 2: Boards and committees

Details on membership, sittings and remuneration can be viewed at www.dtesb.qld.gov.au.

Table A2 DTESB’s boards and committees, 2015–16

Name and type of 
board or committee Functions and responsibilities Achievements in 2015–16

Queensland Small 
Business Advisory 
Council  
(advisory/
consultative)

Advise the minister on small business issues

Respond to ministerial requests for input on 
identified issues and provide feedback on 
proposed initiatives

Alert the minister to systemic and emerging 
business issues

Four meetings of the council were held (three 
formal meetings and one informal meeting 
held in Brisbane)

Council activities included:

• providing important input for the 
development of the Advancing Small 
Business Queensland strategy 2016–20

• participating in 2016 Queensland Small 
Business Week

• considering and discussing issues for 
small business in the key areas of small 
business capability, support, regulation and 
opportunities

Red Tape Reduction 
Advisory Council  
(advisory/
consultative)

Analyse regulatory issues that inhibit small 
business growth, impose a significant 
regulatory burden on small business or create 
barriers to business entry in Queensland

Provide advice and recommendations to 
address unnecessary regulation and red tape 
impacting on small business

Identify new initiatives, reform projects or 
activities that could assist in streamlining 
government processes impacting on small 
business growth

Report to government with recommendations 
on red, green and blue tape areas across at 
least three industry sectors each year

Four meetings of the council were held in 
Brisbane

Council activities included:

• coordination of the review of the regulatory 
environment of the three industry sectors—
agriculture (fruit growing), manufacturing 
(light metals) and hospitality (cafes and 
restaurants)

• providing advice on a number of broader 
regulatory issues of relevance to small 
business, including insurance, workplace 
relations and the regulation of emerging 
innovation industries and start-ups

Embracing 2018 
Advisory Committee 
(advisory/
consultative)

Provide advice on the development, 
implementation, evaluation and monitoring of 
the Embracing 2018 program for GC2018

Seven committee meetings were held (six were 
formal meetings held on the Gold Coast and 
one was a tour of the Gold Coast venues)

Committee activities included identifying 
opportunities and providing advice across 
areas of:

• leveraging GC2108 to derive economic 
benefits and develop local business and 
workforce capability

• maximising long-term community, sport 
and health benefits from GC2018

• strengthening Queensland as Australia’s 
premier tourism destination
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Appendix 3: Performance statement 

Table A3 DTESB’s performance statement, 2015–16

Notes 2015–16 
target/estimate

2015–16 
estimated actual

2015–16 
actual

Tourism and Events Development service area

Tourism division

Amount of additional capital attracted into 
tourism investment

1 $50 million $100 million $100 million

Additional seats by targeted airlines on 
routes supported by the Attracting Aviation 
Investment Fund

2 150 000 209 700 202 841

Percentage of applications for the Aviation 
Attraction Investment Fund evaluated 
within nine working days 

3 90% 100% 100%

Percentage of cross-agency tourism project 
milestones delivered on schedule and on 
budget

4 80% 100% 100%

Office of Commonwealth Games

Level of Commonwealth Games Federation’s 
(CGF) satisfaction with preparedness for 
GC2018

5, 6 Satisfied Satisfied Satisfied

Business to Government Services service area

Small Business division

Percentage of Mentoring for Growth 
businesses that report after 12 months 
declaring a 10 per cent increase in either 
employment, turnover or profitability

7 90% > 90% 87%

Business Online Solutions

Customer Impact Index (CII): the level 
of customer value derived from using 
Business Queensland online (Business 
and Industry Portal), which incorporates 
customer awareness, experience and 
satisfaction

8, 9 > 60% 65.5% 65.6%

Variance reporting

1.  Strong capital investment in tourism has resulted in the increase from the 2015–16 target to the 2015–16 estimated actual and 2015–
16 actual.

2.  The measure is an annual target, representing the number of new inbound airline seats delivered in the financial year on routes 
supported by the Attracting Aviation Investment Fund. A higher than expected number of seats have been delivered due to a number 
of new routes being supported that were not in the immediate pipeline of potential opportunities. Annual seat totals can fluctuate 
significantly depending on a number of factors, including when an airline commences flying and when financial support ceases.
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3.  All applications were evaluated within nine working days. The importance of attracting additional investment meant applications were 
processed as a matter of priority so that all were evaluated within or under the standard.

4.  All cross-agency tourism milestones have been completed and final outcomes reported in the Destination success: action plan—final 
report.

5.  The assessment of satisfaction is undertaken by a comprehensive external assessment of progress against an extensive list of 
requirements compiled from the experience of previous Games and host city bid proposal and schedules. The assessment is made by 
the Coordination Commission (CoCom), an international oversight body of the Commonwealth Games Federation (CGF). This service 
standard is shared by GOLDOC, which is responsible for planning the operational aspects of the event and DTESB, which is responsible 
for coordinating the necessary infrastructure and government services to support GC2018. 

6.  CoCom, in its June 2016 report to the CGF, confirmed its satisfaction with the level of planning and preparedness for GC2018.

7.  This measure reports on Mentoring for Growth, which is a successful and well-regarded small business intervention program 
facilitated by the department.

8.  The CII incorporates three elements—customer awareness, customer experience and customer satisfaction. The wording of this 
measure was changed from 2015–16 to include these three elements. This approach determines customer value by assessing the 
customer’s perception of the usefulness and importance of the benefits from the services, which go beyond an estimate of time 
and effort saved. The assessment of the three elements better enables the targeting of service improvement areas based on direct 
customer feedback. It incorporates both qualitative data captured through direct customer complaint and compliment feedback 
mechanisms, surveys, customer focus groups/observations and data from various quantitative data sources.

9.  The 2015–16 target is an overall average for the CII. It is calculated by an aggregation of customer feedback results across the three 
indices—customer awareness, customer experience and customer satisfaction. This target is based on the 2014–15 trial result.
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Appendix 4: Legislation administered

The public business of the Queensland Government is divided among its ministers. Each ministerial portfolio carries 
particular responsibilities, including the administration of relevant legislation.

DTESB administered the following legislation for the Minister for Education and Minister for Tourism and Major Events, 
and the Minister for Transport and the Commonwealth Games during 2015–16. The department was established under 
Administrative Arrangements Order (No. 3) 2012 on 3 April 2012.

Table A4 Legislation administered by DTESB, 2015–16

Legislation 

Tourism and Events Queensland Act 2012

Traveller Accommodation Providers (Liability) Act 2001

Commonwealth Games Arrangements Act 2011

Major Events Act 2014 
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Appendix 5: Compliance checklist 

Table A5 Compliance checklist, 2015–16 

Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Annual report 
reference

Letter of 
compliance

A letter of compliance from the accountable officer  
or statutory body to the relevant minister/s

ARRs—section 8 3

Accessibility

Table of contents

Glossary

ARRs—section 10.1 1–2, 79

Public availability ARRs—section 10.2 Inside front 
cover

Interpreter service statement Queensland language 
services policy

ARRs—section 10.3

Inside front 
cover

Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968

ARRs—section 10.4

Inside front 
cover

Information licensing QGEA—information licensing

ARRs—section 10.5

Inside front 
cover

General 
information

Introductory information ARRs—section 11.1 6–8

Agency role and main functions ARRs—section 11.2 9–13, 76, 80

Operating environment ARRs—section 11.3 6–8, 10–13

Non-financial 
performance

Government’s objectives for the community ARRs—section 12.1 17

Other whole-of-government plans and  
specific initiatives

ARRs—section 12.2 24–26, 29–32

Agency objectives and performance indicators ARRs—section 12.3 19, 24–33

Agency service areas and service standards ARRs—section 12.4 18, 19, 24–33, 
74–75

Financial 
performance

Summary of financial performance ARRs—section 13.1 20–23

Governance—
management 
and structure

Organisational structure ARRs—section 14.1 10–11, 14

Executive management ARRs—section 14.2 15–16

Government bodies (statutory bodies and  
other entities)

ARRs—section 14.3 72

Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 Public Sector Ethics Act 1994

ARRs—section 14.4

34

Queensland public service values ARRs—section 14.5 9, 41
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Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Annual report 
reference

Governance—
risk 
management 
and 
accountability

Risk management ARRs—section 15.1 38

Audit committee ARRS—section 15.2 36–38

Internal audit ARRs—section 15.3 38

External scrutiny ARRs—section 15.4 38

Information systems and recordkeeping ARRs—section 15.5 39–40

Governance—
human 
resources

Workforce planning and performance ARRs—section 16.1 42–43

Early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment Directive no.11/12: early 
retirement, redundancy and 
retrenchment

Directive no. 16/16: early 
retirement, redundancy and 
retrenchment (from 20 May 
2016)

ARRs—section 16.2

43

Open data

Consultancies ARRs—section 17

ARRs—section 34.1

40

Overseas travel ARRs—section 17

ARRs—section 34.2

40

Queensland language services policy ARRs—section 17

ARRS—section 34.2

40

Financial 
statements

Certification of financial statements FAA—section 62

FPMS—sections 42, 43  
and 50

ARRs—section 18.1

69

Independent auditor’s report FAA—section 62

FPMS—section 50

ARRs—section 18.2

70–71

Notes:

FAA Financial Accountability Act 2009 
FPMS Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009 
ARRs Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies
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Abbreviations

Term Definition

ABA Australian Business Account

ABLIS Australian Business Licence and Information Service

ARC Audit and Risk Committee

ARRs Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies

CGF Commonwealth Games Federation

CII Customer Impact Index

CoCom Commonwealth Games Federation Coordination Commission 

CRM Customer Relationship Management System

DAF Department of Agriculture and Fisheries

DTESB Department of Tourism, Major Events, Small Business and the Commonwealth Games

EMG Executive Management Group

FAA Financial Accountability Act 2009

FPMS Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009

GC2018 Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games

GOLDOC Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games Corporation

ICT information and communications technology

QAO Queensland Audit Office

QGIAS Queensland Government Internal Audit Service

QSBAC Queensland Small Business Advisory Council

QTIC Queensland Tourism Industry Council

RTRAC Red Tape Reduction Advisory Council

TEQ Tourism and Events Queensland



80
Annual report 2015–2016 Department of Tourism, Major Events, Small Business and the Commonwealth Games

Contacts and locations

Head office
111 George Street 
BRISBANE  QLD  4001 
AUSTRALIA

Post
PO Box 15168 
BRISBANE CITY EAST  QLD  4002 
AUSTRALIA

Phone
13 QGOV (13 74 68) 
International callers: +61 7 3405 0970 (+10 hours UTC)

Website

www.dtesb.qld.gov.au

Regional offices
DTESB’s regional services are delivered by the Department of State Development. Visit www.dsd.qld.gov.au and select 
‘Contact us’ to see a list of regional offices.

http://www.dtesb.qld.gov.au
http://www.dsd.qld.gov.au
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